
1 

CABINET  
Thursday 28 January 2021 

 

AGENDA 
 

Viewing this meeting on YouTube 

The meeting of the Cabinet on Thursday 28 January 2021 may be viewed on 
YouTube by clicking on, and opening, the link below: 
 
https://youtu.be/HlmNm_i3V2o 
 

 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Strategic Director (Internal Services). 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held 
on 10 December 2020 (Pages 1 - 12) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To agree the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10 
December 2020 as an accurate record. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10 December 
2020 be agreed as an accurate record.   
 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 
 

 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC 

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 25 
January 2021  

 

 To follow 
 

 

6. References from Committees   

 None at this stage. 
 

 

https://youtu.be/HlmNm_i3V2o


2 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations 

7. Draft Rent Arrears Policy (Pages 13 - 56)  

 Summary: 
 
To consider a revised draft Rent Arrears Policy to replace the 
previous version. The draft Policy takes account of various updates 
because of the introduction of Universal Credit; the provisions in the 
Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords; and 
the changes to the possession proceedings’ process during the 
coronavirus pandemic 
 
Recommendations: 
 

1. That the draft Rent Arrears Policy, attached at Appendix A to the 
report, be approved;  and  

2. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted 
delegated authority to make in-year amendments to the approved 
draft Rent Arrears Policy, as necessitated by changes in legislation 
or Government guidance. 

 

 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports 

8. National Non-Domestic Rate Relief 2021-22 (Pages 57 - 74)  

 Summary: 
 
To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who have 
made applications in respect of 2021/22 or who will have made an 
application by 1 March 2021. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2021/22 for the 
organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined in 
accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in Appendix A 
 

 

9. Planning Services Sub-Delegations (Pages 75 - 106)  

 Summary: 
 
To seek authority to delegate to Officers, the functions related to 
Neighbourhood Plans and the deferrals of CIL payment requests, for 
the reasons outlined in the body of the report. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That, authority be delegated to Officers to undertake the 
Neighbourhood Plan functions and the deferral of CIL payments, as 

 



3 

detailed in the Planning Services Sub delegations, at Appendix A to 
the report 
 

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing 

10. Draft Calendar of Meetings 2021/22 and 2022/23 (Pages 107 - 
112) 

 

 Summary: 
 

To consider the proposed calendar of meetings for 2021/22 and the 
provisional calendar of meetings for 2022/23. 

 
Recommendation: 

 
That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2021/22 and the 
provisional calendar of meetings for 2022/23 be submitted to the 
Annual Meeting of the Council. 
 

 

11. Delegated Items under Standing Order 38: Street Naming and 
Numbering (Pages 113 - 120) 

 

 Summary: 
 
To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to 
the approval of new road names for a development at the rear of 
39 Brentfield Road and for the first phase of development in the 
Western Cross locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That Cabinet note the action taken by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), to approve new road names for a development at the 
rear of 39 Brentfield Road and for the first phase of development in 
the Western Cross locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 10 December 2020 at 
5.00 pm  

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Sarah Martin, Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
Sheri Green, Strategic Director (External Services) 
Sonia Collins, Head of Planning Services 
Paul Blake, Interim Transformation Manager 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager  
 

 
168. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Brown. 
 

169. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

170. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 29 OCTOBER 2020  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on29 October 2020 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

171. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

172. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 7 DECEMBER 2020  
 
The Chairman explained the remit of the Cabinet Advisory Panels and how 
they fed their views into Cabinet meetings, for the benefit of any Members of 
the public viewing the meeting on YouTube. 
 
The Chairman paid tribute to Ian Armitt who had tendered his resignation as a 
Councillor on Monday. He described Mr Armitt’s dedicated service to the 
Council and people of Dartford over many years. During this time he had 
served three times as Mayor, with his wife Lynn as his Mayoress, and had 
successfully brought a modernity to that office but with strong links to the 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 

2 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

heritage of the borough. Mr Armitt had served on many committees, boards 
and panels, and had been the Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet Advisory Panel A 
until his resignation. He was also a dedicated advocate and supporter of the 
Orchard theatre. The Cabinet expressed their best wishes to Mr & Mrs Armitt 
for the future. 
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A held on 7 December 2020 and had regard to the Panel’s views 
throughout the meeting.  
 

173. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

174. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY: FUNDING REVIEW 2020  
 
The Head of Planning Services presented an updated copy of a report which 
described progress with the Indicative 5-Year Delivery Programme of potential 
infrastructure projects that could be supported by funding secured through 
Dartford’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The report also detailed the 
progress that had been made over the past year with regard to projects within 
Dartford’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), CIL receipts and a prospective 
mechanism that would enable the release of CIL retained for unparished 
areas to fund locally focused projects. The report also advised Members of a 
new requirement to publish an annual Infrastructure Funding Statement, with 
the first statement detailing the CIL receipts and s106 contributions for 
2019/20 to be published by 31st December 2020.  Details of the CIL receipts 
were shown in Appendix A.  In the financial year 2019/20 the Council’s CIL 
receipts had amounted to £3.794m of which £114,700 had been transferred to 
the Parish/Town Council’s (15% of the CIL receipts from development in their 
areas) whilst the Council also retained 15% of CIL receipts in unparished 
parts of the borough, amounting to £468,800. The total amount of CIL receipts 
retained for funding strategic infrastructure projects in 2019/20 was £3.140m 
and it was estimated that potential CIL receipts for the next 5 years could be 
in the region of £18-20m, although this could vary. 
 

Appendix B to the report detailed the IDP which was divided into three 
sections. Part 1 of the IDP described fully funded projects including the 
Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project, Rivermill Primary School and the 
secondary school at Stone Lodge, improvement works to the Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junction on the A2, and the start of work on a new primary school at 
Ebbsfleet Green. Part 2 described projects that could potentially be enabled 
by CIL monies, including additional works in Dartford Town Centre, a 
pedestrian/cycle bridge over the River Darent, primary school expansion 
within the Dartford North area, a new 2 form entry primary school at Stone, 
Dartford Town Centre Health and Well Being Hub, a new primary care facility 
in the Stone/Greenhithe area and improvements to the Darent Valley Path 
and associated waymarking. 
 
These projects were considered to be necessary to support development in 
the Borough and, on the information currently available, were likely to meet 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

3 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

the CIL Assessment Criteria. These schemes were recommended for 
inclusion in the indicative CIL Delivery Programme for 2021/22 to 2025/26 
contained in Appendix C to the report and it was hoped that works could be 
delivered on three projects (Dartford Northern Gateway Bridge, primary 
school expansion in North Dartford and the Darent Valley Path and way-
marking) during 2021/22. The final Part of the IDP detailed those schemes 
that were less advanced but where feasibility work was ongoing’ including 
scope for future Fastrack projects, the future expansion of Darent Valley 
hospital and possible medium to long term solutions to traffic congestion at 
junction 1A on the M25.. The report also detailed the work of the Leader’s 
Advisory Group on CIL and the amount of CIL income distributed to the 
Parishes and Town Council along with the amounts available to spend on 
projects in unparished areas.  
 

The Head of Planning Services drew attention to the amended figures in the 
updated report and Appendix A and explained that although up to an 
additional 5% of CIL receipts could be used for administrative costs to support 
the resources need to cover the collection, governance, reporting and 
spending of CIL receipts the Council had in fact spent 1.85% of CIL for this 
purpose, thereby ensuring that a larger percentage of receipts could be used 
to provide infrastructure. 
 
 
The Cabinet noted the comments raised by the Cabinet Advisory Panel and 
the clarification that had been provided on the matters raised. The Chairman 
noted in particular comments made about works associated with the inland 
border facility at Ebbsfleet but stressed that the CIL was designed to provide 
long term infrastructure rather than modifications to what would only be a 
temporary facility. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1.  That the Indicative 5-Year Delivery Programme as set out in Appendix 

C to the report, be agreed as a basis for ongoing liaison with the 
relevant infrastructure providers and further development of the 
identified schemes; 

2.  That, once individual projects within the Indicative 5-Year Delivery 
Programme are sufficiently progressed to demonstrate they are 
deliverable, further reports be submitted to Cabinet for decisions on 
the release of CIL funding contributions towards them; 

3.   That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Planning Services to 
publish the Infrastructure Funding Statement, in accordance with 
Government guidance, incorporating the CIL monitoring shown in 
Appendix A to the report; and 

4.  That the work on developing governance arrangements to enable the 
release of CIL funds retained for unparished areas is noted and that the 
conclusion of this work will be the subject of a further report to Cabinet for 
approval. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 

4 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
175. PHASES 1A AND 2  DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which advised them of the outcome of the 
re-tendering of the contract for the Town Centre Regeneration Phase 1A 
(High Street) and Phase 2 (Instone Road/Highfields Road junctions) 
construction works and sought approval for the award of the contract to the 
successful tenderer(s). The report also explained the time criticality to place 
orders for certain building materials as soon as possible in order that works 
on these phases of the project could start in January 2021. 
 
The Chairman explained that town centre regeneration was an ongoing 
project and that the initial phases were nearing completion and were 
designed to protect and enhance facilities in the town centre and that the 
action being taken now was to progress the next phases of the 
regeneration works. 
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the details of tenders shown at Appendix A in the exempt part of the 

Agenda be noted; and 

2. That authority be granted to the Strategic Director (External Services) to 
accept the winning tender(s), as identified in exempt Appendix A to the 
report, and for the Strategic Director (External Services), in consultation 
with the Head of Legal Services, to enter into contract(s) for the 
construction phase of Phase 1A (High Street) and Phase 2 (Instone 
Road/Highfields Road junctions) of the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration 
project with the successful tenderer(s). 

 
176. TOWN CENTRE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which sought authority to make a Public 
Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) pursuant to Part 4, Section 59 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, to supress the incidents of 
crime and anti-social behaviour occurring principally in Dartford Town Centre.  
 
Members were reminded that the Cabinet had considered this proposal at its 
meeting in September and that since that time the proposals had been 
through public consultation. The intention of a PSPO was to deal with a 
particular nuisance or problem in a specific area that was detrimental to the 
local community’s quality of life by imposing conditions on the use of that area 
which apply to everyone and was designed to ensure that the law-abiding 
majority of people could use and enjoy public safety safe from anti-social 
behaviour. The Council could make a PSPO on any public space within its 
area. The original PSPO had been introduced in 2017 for a three year period 
which ended in September 2020 and the proposed new order was effectively 
a renewal of that order.  
 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

5 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The report contained a detailed review of the operation of the PSPO and the 
outcome of the statutory consultation that had been carried out on the 
proposal to make a further PSPO, which had resulted in support for the 
making of the order by the Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent and the 
Local Police Divisional Commander and from 89% of the respondents to the 
consultation. Whilst the PSPO had proved to be an effective measure in 
dealing with anti-social behaviour in the town centre, in conjunction with other 
powers, the police did not see themselves as the primary enforcement agency 
of the PSPO but had agreed to provide further training on the use of PSPO 
powers to response officers so that they could use the powers when 
appropriate to do so in their normal patrol work. They also stated that when 
appropriate, the Town Centre Officers would use the powers to deal with more 
persistent local problems.  They also would be supportive of using the powers 
when working as part of joint operations with other community safety partners.  
It was noted that powers available under a PSPO would be applied with 
discretion and proportionality and that this was not a panacea for dealing with 
anti-social behaviour but provided additional options to the other measures 
available. 
 
The Cabinet noted that the Cabinet Advisory Panel had supported the making 
of the PSPO and the comments made by Members at that meeting. 
 
The Chairman reminded Members that the Council had embraced the 
legislative changes that had enabled PSPO’s to be made and that Dartford’s 
PSPO had been carefully constructed to provide powers that could be used 
constructively and proportionally to deal with anti-social behaviour. He 
suggested that PSPO’s had sometimes been used inappropriately in other 
areas and had lost credibility as a result. Because Dartford had always 
focussed on the issues that affected residents the PSPO had been well 
supported by the local police. He noted the response by the police to the 
consultation and their position over the responsibility for enforcement and 
welcomed their willingness to undertake training so that officers could assist in 
enforcement during the course of their normal duties, where appropriate. He 
noted that having a PSPO in place was not merely about enforcement but 
also about deterrent, it was about outcomes rather than sanctions. The initial 
PSPO had worked well and the new PSPO was essentially a renewal of that 
order for a further three years. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety also welcomed the new 
PSPO and explained that because the contents of the order complemented 
the Police and Crime Commissioner’s objectives the police were more likely to 
assist in using the PSPO in addition to the other powers available. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities detailed in      

paragraphs 3.8 to 3.10 of the report are having, or likely to have, a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, are persistent 
or continuing in nature, are unreasonable and that on the basis that the 
consultation process, (as outlined in Appendix C to the report), confirms 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 

6 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

local support for the making of the PSPO, the Public Spaces Protection 
Order 2020 – Dartford Town Centre be made on terms set out in Appendix 
A to the report; to apply to specific areas of Dartford Town Centre, as 
shown on the Map at Appendix B to the report; 

2.  That the Strategic Director (External Services), in consultation with the 
Head of Legal Services, be authorised to undertake the statutory notice 
process for the making of the Order in accordance with the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces 
Protection Orders) Regulations 2014; and 

3. That the fixed penalty notice fine be set at £100, with a 50% discount if 
paid within 10 days. 

 
177. INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY RESILIENCE ARRANGEMENTS  

 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) presented a report which advised 
Members that a recent external audit review of the Council’s current Disaster 
Recovery Plan had highlighted the need to improve the Council’s IT resilience 
arrangements in the event of a failure of, or loss of access to, its critical IT 
systems. The current Disaster Recovery Plan relied upon a single server 
installed at a disaster recovery site (DR) away from the Civic Centre. This 
could deal with a partial systems failure but in the event of a total failure, 
further servers would need to be purchased and installed before full recovery 
could be achieved and the recovery timeframe could not be guaranteed. The 
report detailed the risks and possible solutions, including cloud and software 
solutions, joint arrangements with other authorities and hardware ‘quick ships. 
It was however considered that the most effective solution was to increase the 
existing disaster recovery site capabilities by replacing all of the ageing 
hardware at the Civic Centre with new hardware and migrating older servers 
and associated equipment to the DR site to mirror the operational 
configuration and provide a full disaster recovery solution. This would allow for 
timely and predictable recovery with no reliance on external factors.   It was 
intended that the proposals would be funded from EU Transition funding 
aimed at supporting business continuity arrangements. 
 
The Cabinet noted the concerns raised by a Member at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel and the clarification provided by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) at that meeting as to the intended implementation of the new 
arrangements by the end of the financial year, the processes for copying data 
across to the DR site and the daily back-up of data, testing arrangements 
(initially annually and then possibly every six months) and reviewing the 
condition of equipment at the DR site. The servers transferring across were 
two and a half years old and had a life expectancy of five years. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the proposals and the intention to start testing 
straight away. The Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed that testing 
would include data integrity and stressed the importance that the Council 
placed on data security, which was externally validated annually. The Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Finance also welcomed the proposals but recommended 
that in future the Council might consider cloud based storage and that this 
should be on servers hosted in the UK.  

Page 6Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

7 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Council’s IT resilience arrangements be enhanced by replacing the 
ageing hardware in the Civic Centre and migrating the older hardware to the 
disaster recovery site, to ensure an effective and timely failover in the event of 
a failure of, or loss of, the IT systems in the Civic Centre 
 

178. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS TO PARISH AND TOWN COUNCILS 
2021/22  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the level of proposed financial 
contributions to be paid to Parish and Town Councils in 2021/22 and the 
continuation of the Capacity Building Fund. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the fact that the Council still made financial 
contributions to the parish and town councils, in addition to the funding it 
provided via the Capacity Building Fund, and this funding had been 
maintained at a time where the council’s income from Council Tax had been 
adversely affected by COVID. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the following contributions be made to Parish and Town Councils to 
compensate for lost council tax income in local areas for the introduction of 
the council tax support scheme: 
 

             £  
 

Bean 334 

Darenth 1,923 

Longfield 631 

Southfleet 198 

Stone 7,021 

Sutton at Hone and Hawley 1,737 

Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe 14,435 

Wilmington 1,317 

 
2. That the contributions be made subject to the Parish and Town Councils 

submitting suitably analysed details of estimated net expenditure for the 
ensuing year by 31 January each year, and actual net expenditure for the 
preceding year no later than six months after the end of each financial 
year, in a format prescribed by the Council; 

 
3. That the payments be made in two equal instalments; the first on 30 April 

(or next working day) and the second, the latter of 30 September (or next 
working day) or seven days following receipt of the Parish or Town 
Councils’ 2020/21 accounts, certified as correct by their Clerks; 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 

8 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
4. That the Council continues to operate the Capacity Building Fund and 

makes a contribution of £40,000 into the fund in 2021/22; 
 

5. That the Strategic Director (Internal Services), be granted delegated 
authority, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council, to agree the Capacity Building Fund bidding criteria; and 

 
6. That Capacity Building Funding bids from Parish and Town Councils be 

submitted to the Grants Panel, and that the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) be delegated authority to approve the award of the bid(s), on 
the recommendation of the Grants Panel. 

 
179. LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which proposed that the Cabinet should 
recommend that the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme should roll 
forward to 2021/22.  
 
Members welcomed the rolling forward of the current scheme, which had 
been simplified to make it more accessible, and noted the importance of 
providing support to those struggling to pay council tax in the current 
environment.  
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That it be recommended to the General Assembly of the Council that the 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21 be rolled forward to 2021/22 
with effect from 1 April 2021.  
 

180. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21 - PROJECTED OUTTURN AND 
2021/22 BUDGET PROCESS  
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) presented a report which detailed 
the projected outturn on the General Fund and the Housing Revenue 
Account, and the reasons for significant variances, and sought approval for 
the budget setting process for 2021/22. 
 
The Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised Members that the Council 
had incurred increased costs and loss of income due to the impact of COVID. 
However the £1.8m grant provided by the Government to cover increased 
costs was expected to meet these costs whilst the loss of income would be 
largely mitigated by Government grant. For the period April-July 2020 the 
Council had received £293K of central funding for lost income on the basis 
that the Council would bear the first 5% of the budgeted income with the 
Government covering 75% of the cost of the balance of lost income. In any 
event the Council was projecting an overall underspend of around £900K 
which means that the contribution to reserves and balances could be 
increased. 
 

Page 8Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

9 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance explained that, despite the loss of 
income from business rates and council tax the Council was being very 
supportive to those in financial need, which was consistent with the Council’s 
overall approach to the pandemic. As a result the Council’s non-collection rate 
was higher than in some neighbouring authorities but it was important to 
provide support in the current environment where it was needed. 
 
The Chairman noted the support being provided but reminded Members that it 
was also important to ensure that the impact of COVID did not camouflage 
any structural issues. He noted the strength of the Council’s financial 
processes and that the prudent approach to financial management taken in 
the past had placed the Council in a stronger position than most authorities to 
deal with current challenges.         
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Members note the projected outturn position for the General Fund 

and the Housing Revenue Account; and 
 
2. That the Strategic Director (Internal Services) and the Head of Finance be 

granted delegated authority to determine and publish the 2020/21 draft 
budget, in consultation with the Leader and the Finance Portfolio Holder, 
prior to the budget being presented to the General Assembly of the 
Council for approval on 1st March 2020. 

 
181. CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2020/21 - PROGRESS AND 

PROJECTED OUTTURN  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed the progress to date on the 
schemes contained in the approved Capital Programme 2020/21 and the 
current position on capital resources. 
 
The Chairman clarified the reason for proposing to bring forward £2.208m 
from the New Homes budget, which could appear to suggest a significant 
capital overspend in 2020/21. He explained that this was not the case but was 
necessary to ensure that the Council did not have to repay a proportion of 
capital receipts to the Government accruing from right-to-buy sales of Council 
housing and the provision of replacement housing under 1-4-1 funding 
arrangements. The requirement to repay receipts not spent on providing 
replacement housing within a specific timeframe did not respect the ebb and 
flow of the market for sales and the development and re-provision of housing 
and it was prudent to bring forward funding from the New Homes budget for 
2021/22 to achieve a beneficial outcome.  
 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2020/21 Capital 
Programme; and 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 

10 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

2. That the Cabinet recommends to the General Assembly of the Council that 
it agree to bring forward £2.208m from the New Homes budget for 2021/22 
to fund new homes spend in 2020/21. 

 
182. DELEGATED DECISION UNDER S038: LOCAL RESTRICTIONS SUPPORT 

GRANTS (CLOSED) AND ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS GRANTS  
 
The Cabinet received a report which informed it of delegated action taken 
under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Strategic Director (Internal Services), 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the implementation 
of arrangements under the Local Restrictions Support Grants Scheme 
(Closed) and the Additional Restrictions Grants Scheme and the 
endorsement of supporting policies. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet notes the action taken by the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 
38(2)(a), in relation to the implementation of arrangements under the Local 
Restrictions Support Grants Scheme (Closed) and the Additional 
Restrictions Grants Scheme and the endorsement of supporting policies. 
 

183. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
HELD ON 14 OCTOBER 2020  
 
The Cabinet received the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing 
board held on 14 October 2020. 
 
The Chairman commended the work being carried out by the Strategic 
Housing Board, under the chairmanship of Councillor Mote, with strong cross 
party support. The local housing market was of great importance with strong 
demand for both private and social housing in the borough. The Board had 
been undertaking an important piece of work to make information on 
opportunities within the borough more accessible and intuitive for anyone 
looking for housing and this work would be available shortly on the Council’s 
web site.      
 
 RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 14 
October 202 be noted. 
 

184. PHASES 1A AND 2 DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE REGENERATION -  
EXEMPT APPENDIX A  (EXEMPT CATEGORY SO46(1)(B) ANNEX 1 
PARAGRAPH 3)  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That, following consideration of the main report, Phases 1A and 2 Dartford 
Town Centre Regeneration, (minute 175), Exempt Appendix A be noted. 
 

Page 10Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
THURSDAY 10 DECEMBER 2020 

 
 

11 

CHAIRMAN’S 

INITIALS 

 
 

The meeting closed at 5.46 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12Agenda Item 3



CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 

DRAFT RENT ARREARS POLICY  
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 Rental income from Dartford Borough Council tenants pays for the services 

provided by the Council’s Housing Services team including tenancy 
management and repairs to homes. It is therefore vital for rent collection to be 
maximised through the effective prevention and management of rent arrears.  
 

1.2 This report presents a revised draft Rent Arrears Policy to replace the previous 
version. The draft Policy takes account of various updates because of the 
introduction of Universal Credit; the provisions in the Pre-Action Protocol for 
Possession Claims by Social Landlords; and most recently, the changes to the 
possession proceedings’ process during the coronavirus pandemic. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  

2.1  That the draft Rent Arrears Policy, attached at Appendix A to this report, be 
approved. 

2.2  That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated authority to 
make in-year amendments to the approved Rent Arrears Policy, as necessitated 
by changes in legislation or Government guidance. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Rent Arrears Policy outlines Dartford Borough Council’s approach to 

preventing and managing rent arrears in Council managed tenancies. 
 
3.2. The Rent Arrears Policy was last updated and approved by Cabinet on the 25 

April 2013 (Min No. 183 refers). Since then, a number of changes have come into 
effect requiring the Council to adapt its approach to managing rent arrears, in 
particular, focusing more intensively on prevention work with the aim to avoid 
possession proceedings. The Policy has therefore been reviewed to take account 
of these changes, which are outlined in this report.   

3.3. Introduction of Universal Credit 

3.3.1. Universal Credit has been introduced to replace a range of benefits, including 
Housing Benefit. The full service was rolled out in Dartford for all new claims in 
2018. It is paid to tenants as a single monthly household payment made directly 
to the tenant five weeks in arrears. The tenant then has a responsibility to pass 
the housing cost element of Universal Credit that pays the rent onto the Council.  

3.3.2. Universal Credit is a significant change to the way Housing Benefit is paid as it 
places the responsibility for the payment of rent onto the tenant. Unlike Housing 
Benefit that is payable from the Monday following the receipt of the claim, it is paid 
monthly in arrears as the housing element of a claimant’s Universal Credit 
payment. It also has to be claimed online.  

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
Whilst the Government introduced some support for councils to assist with costs 
associated with the transition to Universal Credit, for example the Citizens Advice 
Bureau currently provides a Help to Claim Scheme for new claimants, there has 
been an increase in rent arrears following its introduction. 

3.3.3. The draft Rent Arrears Policy at Appendix A to the report, updates the early 
intervention work that the Council’s Housing team carries out with tenants to 
assist in providing advice on claiming benefits and resolving any benefit problems. 
Applications for Alternative Payment Arrangements, such as direct payments to 
the Council, are made where it is clear a tenant is unable to manage their monthly 
Universal Credit payment.  

3.4. Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords 

3.4.1. The latest version of the Ministry of Justice Pre-Action Protocol for Possession 
Claims by Social Landlords came into force on the 13 January 2020. This Protocol 
prescribes the specific procedures that social landlords should follow before 
issuing claims for possession. The Protocol aims to encourage more pre-action 
contact and exchange of information between landlords and tenants; to enable 
landlords and tenants if possible to avoid litigation and settle disputes out of court; 
and to enable an effective use of court’s time and resources if court proceedings 
are necessary.  

3.4.2. The draft Rent Arrears Policy includes the specific procedures covered under the 
Protocol, which must be demonstrated to have been followed if possession 
proceedings are taken. This includes ensuring, for example: 

 that reasonable steps are undertaken to ensure tenants understand any 
information provided regarding their rent account and arrears  

 consideration has been made regarding particularly vulnerable tenants around 
mental capacity, equality issues, and the need for community care 
assessments 

 early contact to resolve issues with paying the rent and arrears; agreeing 
affordable repayment plans; signposting to independent advice and support 
agencies; and postponing court proceedings for as long as the tenant is 
complying with such an agreement or if the tenant has provided all the 
information to support a benefit claim and there is a reasonable expectation of 
entitlement. 

3.5. Coronavirus Act 2020 and possession proceedings 

3.5.1. The coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on people’s lives and the 
economy, including affecting many tenants ability to pay their rent if they have 
suffered bereavement, are sick or caring for others, have incurred a loss of 
income or employment.  

3.5.2. On the 27 March 2020, the Government introduced a 90-day stay on possession 
proceedings and evictions, which was extended to the 20 September 2020. This 
was seen as a necessary step to protect those who have been adversely affected 
by the coronavirus pandemic and have struggled to keep up to date with their rent 
payments.  

Page 14Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
3.5.3. When the country went into national lockdown again on the 5 November 2020, 

the Government further announced that bailiffs will not enforce evictions in 
England until 11 January 2021 at the earliest, except in the most serious 
circumstances. The most serious circumstances include extreme rent arrears 
equivalent to 9 months’ rent with any arrears accrued since 23 March discounted, 
illegal occupation, false statement, anti-social behaviour, perpetrators of domestic 
abuse, and where a property is unoccupied following the death of a tenant in 
relation to assured and shorthold tenancies.  

3.5.4. The Government has also put in place measures to delay the possession process 
through the Coronavirus Act 2020, by introducing temporary extensions to notices 
of intention to seek possession (from 29 August to 31 March 2021).  This includes 
the requirement for landlords to give 6 months’ notice to take possession 
proceedings (unless the tenant is a secure or flexible tenant and has accrued rent 
arrears to the value of over 6 months’ rent then a 4 week notice period will be 
required).  

3.5.5. While the delay to the notice periods may in some cases have an impact on the 
level of rent arrears increasing, it also provides the opportunity and time to carry 
out additional work with tenants to try to resolve problems in paying rent and 
arrears – the ultimate aim being to avoid the need to carry on with possession 
proceedings. The draft Rent Arrears Policy builds in additional pre-action contact 
for this purpose. 

3.5.6. If issuing claims for possession, the draft Rent Arrears Policy also outlines that 
the Council must inform the court of how the tenant and any dependants have 
been affected by the coronavirus pandemic. 

3.6. Advice and support 

3.6.1 It is clear that many tenants are facing challenging and difficult circumstances 
during these uncertain times. The draft Rent Arrears Policy explains the advice 
and support available to tenants struggling to pay their rent.  This includes making 
referrals into the Housing Inclusion Service so that the Council can work 
holistically with tenants to resolve problems and prevent homelessness. Tenants 
are also signposted to seek assistance from other organisations, such as Citizens 
Advice and debit advice agencies. 

 
3.6.2 The draft Rent Arrears Policy also outlines how vulnerable tenants will be 

supported at the earliest stage, which may include carrying out additional visits 
and referring to appropriate advice and support services. 

  
3.7. Consultation on the draft Rent Arrears Policy  

3.7.1. The Dartford Tenants’ and Leaseholders Forum have been consulted on the draft 
Rent Arrears Policy. There were no representations submitted.  

3.8. Review 

3.8.1. As the draft Rent Arrears Policy includes temporary measures introduced by the 
Government and the Coronavirus Act 2020, the aim is to keep the Policy under 
continuous review and update it if there are further changes to legislation and 
guidance. The Policy will then be reviewed every three years. 

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
4.1. This report relates to the Housing and Stronger Communities Corporate Plan 

strategic aims of: 
 

 Facilitating quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, creating 
strong and self-reliant communities and delivering high quality services to 
service users 

 Creating strong and self-reliant communities. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications The Rent Arrears Policy provides a framework for good 
rent collection and management of arrears. 

Legal Implications 

 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty  

 

 
 

None specifically 
 

 
A Customer Access Review has been carried out on the 
draft Rent Arrears Policy – attached at Appendix B. 
Members are reminded to have due regard to the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and the attached Customer Access 
Review in reaching its decisions on the 
recommendations in this report.  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

Crime and Disorder duty None 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Draft Rent Arrears Policy 
Appendix B – Customer Access Review  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Sarah Williamson 

(01322) 343470 
Housing/ 
External 
Services 

N/A 

 

Page 16Agenda Item 7



V3 - DRAFT 

APPENDIX A  

 

 

 

 

Rent Arrears 

Policy 
 Updated January 2020 (DRAFT) 

 

 

 

If you or anybody you know requires this or 

any other council information in another 

language, please contact us and we will do 

our best to provide this for you. Braille, Audio 

tape and large print versions of this 

document are available upon request.  

 

Tel: 01322 343434 

 

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

 

 

 

 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



2 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

Section  Page 

1 PURPOSE  3 

2 INTRODUCTION 3 

3 LEGISLATION, PROTOCOLS AND GUIDANCE   4 

4 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 5 

5 COUNCIL RESPONSIBILITIES 6 

6 TENANT RESPONSIBILITIES  6 

7 PREVENTION  7 

8 EARLY INTERVENTION  8 

9 VULNERABLE TENANTS  9 

10 RENT ARREARS RECOVERY  10 

11 FORMER TENANT ARREARS  15 

12 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 16 

13 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 16 

14 COMPLAINTS  16 

15 MONITORING  16 

16 DATA PROTECTION 17 

17 REVIEW 17 

 

 APPENDIX A – RENT ARREARS ESCALATION PROCEDURE 18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18Agenda Item 7



3 
 

1. PURPOSE 
 

1.1. This policy outlines Dartford Borough Council’s (‘the Council’) approach to 
preventing and managing rent arrears. 

 
1.2. This policy applies to tenants who have a Secure, Flexible, Introductory and 

Demoted Tenancy with the Council. The term ‘tenant’ includes sole and joint 
tenants. This policy does not apply to Part 7 tenancies and leaseholders. 

 

2. INTRODUCTION 
 

2.1. Rental income pays for the services provided to tenants, including tenancy 
management and repairs to homes. It is therefore vital for rent collection to be 
maximised through the effective prevention and management of rent arrears.  

 
2.2. In order to prevent rent arrears, the Council recognises that it must tackle the 

underlying causal factors. Some of the most common reasons for rent arrears 
are listed below:  

 

 Welfare benefit issues  

 Loss of income due to changes in personal circumstances (e.g. illness, 
bereavement or relationship breakdown, increase in number of dependants)  

 Low income (e.g. due to unemployment, low paid work or low take-up of 
benefit) and changes in income  

 Multiple debts and competing priorities  

 Difficulty in managing finances 
 

2.3. Universal Credit which replaces a range of benefits, including Housing Benefit; 
is paid to tenants as a single monthly household payment made directly to the 
tenant five weeks in arrears and claimed online.  
 

2.4. Universal Credit places the responsibility for the payment of rent onto the 
tenant as the housing cost element of Universal Credit that pays the rent has 
to be repaid to the Council by the tenant. This process has resulted in an 
inevitable increase in rent arrears.  

 
2.5. The coronavirus pandemic has had far reaching consequences on everyone’s 

lives. This has led to restrictions on personal activities, including requiring 
people to stay at home, which has had serious impacts on the economy, jobs 
and businesses. This global health crisis will inevitably have a bearing on 
tenants’ ability to pay their rent if they have suffered bereavement, are sick or 
caring for others, or have incurred a loss of income or employment.  

 

2.6. The Council recognises that the above circumstances means adapting the way 
it works to respond to these challenges and changes. The ultimate aim is to as 
far as possible; sustain tenancies by offering support and understanding to 
tenants who may be experiencing their income fluctuating, while at the same 
time protecting the Council’s income stream and its ability to manage and 
maintain the housing stock.  

 

 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



4 
 

3. LEGISLATION, PROTOCOLS AND GUIDANCE 
 

3.1. Legislation 
 

 Housing Act 1985 

 Housing Act 1996 

 Protection from Eviction Act 1977 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 Equality Act 2010 

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 Data Protection Act 2018 

 Coronavirus Act 2020 
 

3.2. Protocols 
 

 Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords (Ministry of 
Justice) 

 

3.3. Guidance 
 

 Universal Credit and rented housing: guide for landlords (Department for 
Work and Pensions)  

 COVID-19 and renting: guidance for landlords, tenants and local authorities 
(Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government) 

 Understanding the possession action process: A guide for social landlords 
in England and Wales (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government) 

 

3.4. Dartford Borough Council Guidance 
 

 Allocations Policy – explains the criteria and procedures the Council uses 
to prioritise applicants for housing. Applicants will not normally qualify to join 
the housing register and will be placed in Band E if they owe arrears of rent 
or other accommodation charges in respect of the current tenancy or former 
accommodation. Applicants may be suspended from the housing register if 
they owe debt to the Council that has accumulated whilst on the register 
 

 Vulnerable Adults’ Housing Policy – explains how vulnerable people who 
access the Housing Service are identified; the safeguards in place and the 
support provided to them 

 

 Tenancy Policy – explains how flexible tenancies are issued to new 
Council tenants. The decision to not renew a flexible tenancy or to end a 
flexible tenancy can include for reasons of rent arrears 

 

 Demoted Tenancy Policy – explains the process the Council follows to 
demote a tenancy and the process to end a demoted tenancy, which can 
include for reasons of rent arrears 
 

 Anti-Social Behaviour Policy – explains the action the Council takes to 
tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB). If the Council is taking possession 
proceedings for ASB it can, if applicable, also include grounds for rent 
arrears  

Page 20Agenda Item 7



5 
 

 

 Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy – explains how the Council 
proactively prevents homelessness and rough sleeping in the borough. The 
Housing Management Rents Team will refer tenants at risk of possession 
proceedings due to rent arrears to the Housing Solutions Team 

 

 Equality & Diversity Document Framework – explains how the Council 
complies with the Equality Act 2010. This policy has been subject to a 
Customer Access Review to assess the impact the policy will have on 
tenants with protected characteristics 

 

4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES  
 

4.1. The overall objective of this policy is to minimise the level of rent arrears by 
preventing problems in paying rent.  
 
To achieve this, the Council aims to: 

 

 Ensure all tenants are aware of their responsibility to pay their rent  

 Promote and offer a wide variety of payment options 

 Promote a payment culture among tenants  

 Enable tenants to maximise their income  

 Offer advice and support to tenants to reduce rent arrears 

 Ensure all communications are clear, customer friendly and encourage 
contact 

 Monitor levels of rent arrears and have early intervention mechanisms in 
place to prevent arrears accruing further 

 Take appropriate and proportionate action in accordance with the level of 
rent arrears  

 Sustain tenancies and prevent homelessness by taking eviction action as 
an absolute last resort and only when all other options have been 
exhausted. 

 
4.2. The Council will treat tenants who are in rent arrears fairly, sensitively and 

sympathetically, while at the same time taking a firm approach to ensure that 
rent owed is collected.  
 

5. COUNCIL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

5.1. The Council may alter rent charges from time to time and this is reviewed each 
year in line with Government policy. Any change will take place from the first 
Monday in April each year and the Council will give tenants a minimum of four 
weeks’ notice.  

 
5.2. The Council also has the discretion to offer additional services, which have to 

be paid for as part of rent or additional service charges, which have to be 
agreed by the Housing Manager. However, tenants will be consulted before 
new services are introduced and are given an opportunity to end their tenancy 
before the new services and charges are introduced. 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



6 
 

5.3. The Council aims to ensure that tenants are able to pay their rent as easily as 
possible, in a way that suits them and their lifestyle. The Council does this by 
providing a range of different payment options, which take into account today’s 
technology but also provide more traditional payment options. These options 
include:  

 

 Direct debit or standing order  

 Over the phone by Switch, Visa Debit, MasterCard, Visa, Electron or Solo  

 Online by debit or credit card using the Council’s website  

 By post (by sending a cheque or postal order)  

 Electronic Payment Card (Swipe Card), which can be used at Payzone or 
the Post Office  

 By Touch Tone (automated payment service available 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week)  

 At the Council’s Civic Centre cash machine. 

 
5.4. If the Council is aware that a tenant has difficulty in reading or understanding 

information given regarding their rent account and arrears, reasonable steps 
will be taken to ensure that the tenant understands any information given.  This 
may include carrying out additional home visits and signposting to appropriate 
advocacy and support services. The Council will also provide translation and 
interpreting services, and information in alternative formats in accordance with 
the Council’s Equality & Diversity Document Framework. 
 

5.5. In delivering this policy, the Council adheres to the Pre-Action Protocol for 
Possession Claims by Social Landlords, which aims to: 

 

 Encourage more pre-action contact and exchange of information between 
landlords and tenants  

 If possible, enable landlords and tenants to avoid litigation and settle 
disputes out of court 

 If court proceedings are necessary, enable an effective use of court’s time 
and resources. 

 
6. TENANT RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
6.1. All Council tenants sign a tenancy agreement, which is a legal document that 

contains the terms and conditions of the tenancy. The tenancy agreement 
includes a condition on the tenant to pay rent on time:  

 

Tenancy agreement condition 2.1: ‘Rent must be paid on time. The amount of 
rent and other charges you initially have to pay for this property are shown on 
page 1 of this Agreement. The rent is due on Monday of every week, but as 
long as it is paid in advance you may pay more than one weeks rent at a time. 
There are some free weeks when no rent is due, and these are usually in April 
and December. But if you are in arrears with your rent payments you must 
continue to pay in these weeks.’  

 
6.2. Joint tenants are each fully responsible for the payment of rent and any 

arrears, as set out in the below condition: 

Page 22Agenda Item 7



7 
 

Tenancy agreement condition 2.4: ‘Joint tenants are jointly and severally 
responsible for all the rent and any arrears. We can recover all rent arrears 
owed from any individual joint tenant. If one joint tenant leaves, the remaining 
joint tenant or tenants are responsible for any rent that may still be owed.’  

 
6.3. If a tenant is eligible for Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, it is the tenant’s 

responsibility to apply for these benefits. Tenants in receipt of Housing Benefit 
also have a responsibility to notify the Council of any change in circumstances; 
and, tenants in receipt of Universal Credit must notify any change in 
circumstances to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). It is 
especially important for tenants to contact the Council at the earliest 
opportunity if they are experiencing difficulties. The Housing Management 
Rents Team can be contacted on rents@dartford.gov.uk or 01322 343134 to 
discuss the situation and the options available. 

 
7. PREVENTION 

 

7.1. Preventing rent arrears is critically important as rental income is vital to the 
delivery of the Housing Service. Rent arrears are not only a financial burden 
to the Council, due to the negative impact they have on the Council’s income 
stream, it has also been calculated that the average cost to the Council of an 
eviction is £6,000. In addition to this, rent arrears are financially and socially 
damaging to an individual; as they risk incurring court costs, being unable to 
obtain credit if they receive a county court judgement and ultimately they risk 
eviction and the loss of their home with all the trauma that entails.  

 
7.2. Pre-sign up stage  

 

7.2.1. Before the sign up stage, the Housing Officer will meet the prospective tenant 
and advise on the rent payment methods, and if applicable, to apply for 
Universal Credit or Housing Benefit. The pre-sign up appointment also 
determines if the prospective tenant has any support needs and is involved 
with any other agencies.  
 

7.3. Sign up stage 
 

7.3.1. After an offer of housing has been accepted, the Housing Officer will meet with 
the prospective tenant to sign the tenancy agreement and hand over the keys. 
During this time the Housing Officer will:  

 

 Remind the tenant of their responsibility to pay rent on time and explain 
the consequences of non-payment.  

 Check with the tenant how and when they will pay their rent and check 
which payment method will be used 

 If applicable, ensure that the tenant has applied for Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit (housing cost element)  

 
7.4. Ongoing  
 
7.4.1. The Council is working continually to promote a payment culture among its 

tenants. It does this by:  

Page 23 Agenda Item 7

mailto:rents@dartford.gov.uk


8 
 

 

 Carrying out periodic rent campaigns, through the use of cards and text 
messages  

 Contacting new tenants after 6 weeks for a rent check-up, if there are any 
arrears, and providing support with benefit applications and signposting to 
other organisations to give support if necessary 

 
7.4.2. The Council advertises the range of payment options online. To encourage 

payment by direct debit there is a free monthly draw to those who pay by this 
method.  

 
7.4.3. Ensuring that tenants are kept informed of their rent account is important and 

rent statements are sent by post, quarterly. Rent statements include the rent 
due, sums received, the running total of any arrears, and any balances held 
on sub-accounts for court costs and former tenancy arrears. Tenants can also 
view their rent account online or request copies of statements.  

 
7.4.4. The Council aims to maximise tenant’s income by informing them of benefits 

they are entitled to. With extra income, tenants are more likely to cope when 
financial difficulty does occur.   

 

8. EARLY INTERVENTION 
 
8.1. In some instances it will not be possible to prevent arrears. However, early 

intervention helps to identify problems quickly so that appropriate advice and 
support can be provided as soon as possible. Often, rent arrears are a 
symptom of underlying problems such as debt, illness or redundancy and if 
these problems can be addressed, then there is a good chance that rent 
arrears can be dealt with. 

 

8.2. Housing Benefit and Universal Credit 
 

8.2.1. The Council will work with the tenant to assist in resolving any Housing Benefit 

or Universal Credit problems.  

8.2.2. If a tenant in receipt of Universal Credit is unable to manage their monthly 
payment, the Council will, where necessary, apply for an Alternative Payment 
Arrangement, which is a managed payment direct to the Council. Tenants will 
also be advised they can apply themselves for Alternative Arrangements, 
which can include: 

 

 more frequent payments where it is identified that a tenant is finding it 
difficult to budget monthly 

 split payments between different members of the household in certain 
circumstances including, financial abuse where one partner mismanages 
the Universal Credit payment or where domestic violence is an issue and 
the couple remain together in the same household, but only one claim to 
Universal Credit is made. 

  
8.2.3. If a tenant is in arrears with their rent, the Council may apply for rent arrears 

deductions from their Universal Credit under the Third Party Deduction 
Scheme. 

Page 24Agenda Item 7



9 
 

8.2.4. In some circumstances, if a tenant claiming Housing Benefit or Universal Credit 
is struggling with their housing costs, and if eligible, the Council will encourage 
and support the tenant to claim Discretionary Housing Payments to cover any 
shortfall in rent. These payments are helpful for people who have been affected 
by the welfare reforms, such as the benefit cap and the removal of the spare 
room subsidy in the social rented sector.  

 

8.2.5. The Council will make every effort to establish effective ongoing liaison with 
the Housing Benefit department and the DWP. The Council is a Trusted 
Provider and signed up to the DWP’s Landlord Portal to verify Universal Credit 
applications and apply for Alternative Payment Arrangements and rent 
deductions. With the tenant’s consent, the Council will make direct contact with 
the Housing Benefit department or DWP before taking enforcement action. 

 

8.3. Advice and support 

 

8.3.1. If a tenant requires additional support to resolve difficulties they are having on 
their ability to pay the rent, a referral may be made to the Council’s Housing 
Inclusion Service. This service takes a holistic and practical approach to 
resolving problems and preventing homelessness by improving outcomes in a 
range of areas, including:  

 

 housing options  

 managing money, claiming benefits and debt, including rent arrears 

 registering with a doctor, or getting help from other services 

 accessing education, training or work opportunities. 
 

8.3.2. The Housing Inclusion Service is there to help maximise income, whether this 
is through knowledge of the benefits system or through access to work. This 
service also coordinates the Housing Hub that accesses various partner 
agencies that help to sustain tenancies and to prevent and relieve 
homelessness. 
 

8.3.3. Bearing in mind that rent arrears may be part of a general debt problem, the 
Council will also advise tenants to seek assistance from other organisations, 
such as Citizens Advice and debt advice agencies, as soon as possible. 

 

8.4. Affordable repayment plans 
 

8.4.1. If the tenant is unable to pay the rent arrears in full, the Council will try to agree 
affordable sums for the tenant to pay towards the arrears.  The agreement will 
take into account the tenant’s ability to pay, which will be based on the 
disposable income in proportion to the level of the tenant’s debt.  

 
8.4.2. The intention is to clear the rent arrears as soon as possible and the minimum 

position as far as the Council is concerned, will be that an individual’s 
indebtedness to the Council does not worsen. 

 

 

 

 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



10 
 

9. VULNERABLE TENANTS 
 

9.1. Housing Services defines a vulnerable person as:  
 

Anyone over 18 years or aged 16/17 with a guarantor; who needs community 
care services or an enhanced housing service1   

 
9.2. Without support, vulnerable people can be at increased risk of accruing 

arrears. The Council aims to ensure that tenants receive all the support they 
need at the earliest stage.  

 
9.3. The Council keeps a record of all tenants who state they are vulnerable, and 

this is taken into account in communications. The type and style of 
communication used is decided on a case-by-case basis and home visits can 
be made where necessary. Housing Scheme Officers will carry out home visits 
to tenants in housing schemes for older people.  

 
9.4. When a vulnerable tenant is in arrears, the Council will follow its escalation 

procedure (see Appendix A), but extra visits may be organised. The Housing 
Officer will also seek to refer the person to the appropriate advice and support 
organisations. 

 
9.5. The Council may apply for Alternative Payment Arrangements for vulnerable 

tenants who cannot manage their single monthly payment where they are 
claiming Universal Credit. The intention is that Advance Payment 
Arrangements are temporary arrangements and are not permanent. The DWP 
takes into account numerous factors when making their decision. This can 
include, for example, addiction problems, mental health issues, learning 
difficulties, and previous homelessness or rent arrears. A claimant does not 
have to be in rent arrears to be considered for an Advanced Payment 
Arrangement.   
 

9.6. If the Council is aware that the tenant is particularly vulnerable, the Council will 
consider at an early stage: 

 

1. whether or not the tenant has the mental capacity to defend possession 
proceedings and the extent to which Part 21 of the Civil Procedure Rules 
applies (children and protected parties); 

2. whether or not any issues arise under the Equality Act 2010; and 
3. whether or not there is a need for a community care assessment in 

accordance with the Care Act 2014. 

 
10. RENT ARREARS RECOVERY 
 
10.1. Rent arrears recovery will be based on a staged escalation process (see 

Appendix A for the process up to the court hearing stage), which can be halted 
by a tenant choosing to pay rent and agreeing an affordable repayment plan 
with the Council.  
 

                                                           
1 See Dartford Borough Council’s Vulnerable Adults’ Housing Policy for more details 

Page 26Agenda Item 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


11 
 

10.2. Rent accounts are monitored on a weekly basis and a rent demand letter is 
sent to all those who have missed one weeks rent. This letter also details 
agencies that are able to offer financial support.  

 

10.3. Escalation of the recovery of rent arrears to possession proceedings will be 
triggered if: 

 

 the tenant fails to engage with the Council regarding their rent arrears 

 the tenant has not come to an agreement to repay the arrears 

 the tenant has come to an agreement and has not kept to it 

 the tenant fails to provide all the evidence required to process an application 
for Housing Benefit or Universal Credit (housing cost element), if applicable 

 the arrears are not reducing  
 

Tenancy agreement condition: 2.2: ‘If you do not pay the rent on time we 
may go to court to get legal permission to end the tenancy and repossess 
the property, or take other legal steps to recover the arrears.’ 

 
10.4. Possession proceedings will not be started if a tenant, where applicable, can 

demonstrate they: 
 

 have provided all the evidence required to process a Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit (housing costs element) claim 

 there is a reasonable expectation of eligibility of Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit (housing costs element) 

 they have paid other sums due that are not covered by Housing Benefit or 
Universal Credit (housing costs element)  
 

10.5. The Coronavirus Act 2020 currently provides protection to Secure, Flexible, 
Introductory and Demoted tenants by delaying when landlords can start 
possession proceedings. The temporary changes to possession proceedings 
are referred to in section 10.7.5 of this policy.  
 

10.6. The Council will NOT seize an individual’s goods or possessions as a means 

of collecting debt. 

 

10.7. Statutory notice 
 

10.7.1. Before any possession action is taken, the tenant will be contacted by letter to 
warn that a statutory notice will be served setting out the Council’s intention to 
seek possession of the property.  
 

10.7.2. If after one week of receiving the warning letter the tenant fails to make a 
repayment or pay the rent, the tenant will be contacted by telephone and given 
one final opportunity to come to an arrangement. If no arrangement or 
repayment is made, the statutory notice will be served one week later.   

 

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



12 
 

10.7.3. The Council will serve either a ‘Notice Seeking Possession’ (for a Secure or 
Flexible tenancy), a ‘Notice of Proceedings for Possession’ (for an Introductory 
tenancy) or a ‘Notice of Possession Proceedings’ (for a Demoted Tenancy2). 
 

10.7.4. Each notice will explain why the Council is seeking to repossess a home and 
will give a date after which court proceedings will take place. The notice also 
advises tenants to contact agencies that are able to offer support and/or 
representation in court, including the Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Solicitors and 
the Housing Aid Centre. 
 

10.7.5. The notice period is the time from when the notice is served to when the 
Council can issue a claim to the court for a possession order. The Coronavirus 
Act 2020 has made temporary changes to the notice periods. The below table 
explains the notice periods depending on when the notice has been served 
(i.e. before the Coronavirus Act 2020 came into force and after).  
 
NOTICE PERIOD LENGTHS FOR RENT ARREARS 

When the notice is served Type of tenancy Required notice period  

Pre-coronavirus Act 2020 
notice period: Until 26 
March 2020 

Secure 
Flexible 
Introductory  
Demoted  

Four weeks  

Modified notice period: 26 
March 2020 to 28 August 
2020 

Secure 
Flexible 
Introductory  
Demoted  

Three months 

Modified notice period: 29 
August 2020 to 31 March 
2021 

Secure 
Flexible 

Four weeks – where at 
least six months’ rent is 
unpaid 
 
Six months – where less 
than six months’ rent is 
unpaid 

Introductory  
Demoted 

Six months 

 
10.7.6. All Introductory and Demoted tenants have an opportunity to have an 

independent review following their notice prior to the Council’s decision to take 
court action. A review application and leaflet explaining the review process is 
included within the notice. 
 

10.7.7. After the service of a notice, and before the issue of proceedings, the Council 
will make reasonable attempts to contact the tenant to discuss the arrears, the 
cause of the arrears, as well as the Housing Benefit or Universal Credit position 
(if applicable). There will be at least 3 contacts made for 4 week notices, 6 
contacts made for 3 month notices, and 11 contacts made for 6 month notices. 
The type of contact made with the tenant may include letters, telephone calls 
and home visits.  

 

                                                           
2 See Dartford Borough Council’s Demoted Tenancy Policy for more details on the procedure for Demoted 

tenants 

Page 28Agenda Item 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


13 
 

10.7.8. If the tenant makes an agreement to pay the current rent and a reasonable 
amount towards the arrears, the Council will postpone issuing court 
proceedings for so long as the tenant keeps to such agreement. If the tenant 
fails to make an agreement or ceases to comply with such an agreement, the 
Council will send a letter warning of court action. The Council can apply to 
court within a year of the date specified in the notice as being the date after 
which possession proceedings may be begun. 
 

10.7.9. Following the warning of court action letter, a pre-court appointment letter is 
sent followed by a home visit and a further phone call with the tenant before 
the Senior Housing Officer reviews the case and court proceedings are 
approved. When court proceedings are approved, the tenant will be provided 
with a copy of the Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social 
Landlords. 

 
10.8. Claim for possession  

 

10.8.1. When making a claim for possession to the court, the Council will include with 
the claim a notice confirming and setting out how it has complied with the Pre-
Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords. The Council will 
also include a notice setting out how the tenant and any dependants have been 
affected by the coronavirus pandemic. The tenant can choose to mark the 
claim as a COVID-19 case when completing their defence form. To do so, the 
tenant would need to provide brief details in the defence form of any hardship 
they have faced during the coronavirus pandemic and return this form to the 
court.   

 
10.9. Review  

 

10.9.1. There will be at least 21 days notice provided by the court for the review. At 
the review, the court file will be reviewed and the case considered. The review 
is the opportunity for the tenant to obtain free legal advice with the court duty 
solicitor. A Housing Officer will be available on the review date to discuss the 
case with the tenant/adviser and where possible, reach a settlement with them 
without the case progressing to a substantive hearing. 
     

10.9.2. An Order may be made if an agreement has been reached between the 
Council and the tenant. If an agreement has not been reached and the 
paperwork is in order, an Order may be made setting out the steps to be taken 
by the Council and the tenant, to provide the court and each other with the 
evidence and information necessary to allow the substantive hearing to take 
place. However, the substantive hearing could also be adjourned or the case 
dismissed if it is felt that adequate information has not been provided to the 
court or that the relevant legal requirements have not been met. 

 
10.10. Substantive hearing  

 
10.10.1. The substantive hearing will be at least 28 days after the review. Under the 

current circumstances during the coronavirus pandemic, cases with extreme 
alleged arrears accrued, that is, arrears equal to at least 12 months’ rent will 
be listed by the court as a priority. 
 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



14 
 

10.10.2. In advance of the hearing, a Housing Officer will carry out a Court Welfare 
Appointment to assess the tenant’s income and expenditure and discuss 
arrangements to pay back the arrears. A second Court Welfare Appointment 
is arranged if the tenant misses the first appointment. If the tenant does not 
attend either appointment, Council will apply for an Outright Possession Order 
(see 10.10.5). The tenant will be provided with up to date rent statements and 
will be advised of the terms of the order that will be applied for and the 
importance of attending the hearing. 

 

10.10.3. The Council will only adjourn court proceedings if the amount of arrears when 
reaching court has reduced to a level that would not warrant seeking 
possession and the Council will then adjourn on the terms of the agreement.  
If the tenant does not comply, court proceedings will be restored.  
 

10.10.4. Not later than 10 days before the court date, witness statements and the court 
date details will be hand delivered to the tenant along with up-to-date rent 
statements and, if applicable, information known on the tenants Housing 
Benefit or Universal Credit (housing cost element).  

 
10.10.5. At the hearing, there are different types of possession orders the court can 

grant: 
 

 Outright Possession Order – requires the tenant to leave the property by 
a date specified in the order. If the tenant has not left the property by the 
specified date, the Council can apply to issue a warrant of possession under 
which the court bailiff will carry out an eviction. 
 

 Suspended Possession Order – specifies a date for possession, but it 
also sets out conditions which the tenant must abide by (e.g. to pay rent 
plus repayments). If the tenant does not keep to the conditions, the Council 
can apply to issue a warrant of possession under which the court bailiff will 
carry out an eviction. 
 

 Money Judgement Order – in the majority of cases the Council will also 
request a Money Judgment Order, which specifies that the tenant has to 
pay the rent arrears regardless of whether they are evicted.  

 

10.10.6. Whatever the result of proceedings, all tenants agree in their tenancy 
agreement to cover the cost of court costs:  

 

Tenancy agreement condition 2.3: ‘If we go to court – either to enforce the 
terms of this Agreement or to defend proceedings brought against the Council 
by you, reasonable legal costs and expenses incurred (including VAT) may 
be charged to you, unless the court orders otherwise.’  

10.11. Eviction 
 
10.11.1. The Council will take legal action to evict a tenant, but only as the last resort 

and where all other means of recovery of rent arrears have been exhausted. 
 

10.11.2. When taking eviction action, the Council will keep tenants informed at each 
stage of the eviction process.  

Page 30Agenda Item 7



15 
 

 
10.11.3. Under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Housing Management 

Rents Team will refer tenants (with their consent), to the Housing Solutions 
Team, if they are threatened with homelessness due to proceedings for 
possession of the tenants home that could lead to their eviction. The aim is to 
ensure that the tenant is receiving appropriate advice and assistance in the 
homelessness application process. Where there are children under the age of 
18 in the household, or where there is a reason to believe that a member of 
the household is vulnerable, Social Services will be notified. 

 

10.11.4. The Housing Management Rents team will also refer complex cases that are 
becoming at risk of homelessness to the Complex Case Panel. This is joint 
panel between the Housing Management and Housing Solutions Teams that 
meets monthly to work together to put in place plans for households at risk of 
homelessness.    
 

10.11.5. When the court has agreed an eviction, the court will notify the tenant by letter 
of the eviction date. The Council will also send a letter to the tenant outlining 
the eviction date and time, the amount of money they still owe and information 
about emergency accommodation and storage facilities. Tenants are then 
required to make their own arrangements to access these services. 
Possessions will be stored for one month. The letter also states that the tenant 
has the right to apply to the County Court for a Stay Hearing, which allows a 
temporary suspension of a court judgment.  

 
10.11.6. On the day of eviction, the bailiff will execute the warrant for eviction, ensuring 

that the occupants leave the property.  
 

Tenancy agreement condition 6.4: ‘You should ensure that you take all your 
belongings with you when you leave the property. You will be responsible for 
meeting all reasonable removal and/or storage charges when items are left in 
the property. We will remove and store them for a maximum of one month and 
will notify you that we have done so by writing your last known address. If the 
items are not collected within one month, we may dispose of the items and you 
will be liable for the reasonable costs of disposal’ 

 
10.11.7. To manage the coronavirus pandemic, national or local lockdown restrictions 

may be introduced by the government. If a lockdown places restrictions on 
people entering premises, a bailiff may not be able to enter the property to 
carry out the eviction. Landlords and tenants will be notified of any changes in 
the progression of the eviction by the court. 
 

11. FORMER TENANT ARREARS 
 

11.1. Once a tenant has been evicted from the property, any rent owed is still 
repayable to the Council. If they become a tenant of another Council property, 
the debt owed will be taken out of the weekly rent on that property. The Council 
will take all reasonable and practical measures to recover debt. Debt will only 
be written off when a person’s circumstance make it inappropriate to do so, or 
where it is uneconomic pursue recovery of the arrears.  

 

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



16 
 

Tenancy agreement condition 2.8 ‘If you move to become the tenant of another 
Council-owned dwelling, we will use the payments subsequently made by you 
to pay off any debts you owe us, which relate to rent or occupation charges at 
the previous property or properties (former tenant arrears) in preference to rent 
due under the new tenancy.’ 

 

Tenancy agreement condition 2.9: ‘If we owe you money, such as a 
compensation or home loss payment, this will be used towards the rent of the 
new tenancy or the reduction of any other debts (apart from housing benefit or 
council tax benefit) related to your home, such as recharges. 

 
12. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY 
 

12.1. The Council is committed to welcoming and valuing diversity, promoting 
equality of opportunity and tackling unlawful discrimination in accordance with 
the Equality Act 2010. The Council, in delivering this policy, will ensure that no 
individual is discriminated against based on their sex, sexual orientation, 
marital status, pregnancy and maternity, gender reassignment, race, religion, 
belief, disability or age.  

 

13. DISPUTE RESOLTION 
 

13.1. If the tenant is disputing their rent arrears, this should be discussed with the 
Council as soon as possible. The Council aims to resolve any disputes quickly 
and without recourse to litigation. In order to resolve any issues raised, the 
tenant will be provided with sufficient information to confirm the rent due, 
payments made and any outstanding arrears.  

 

14. COMPLAINTS 

 
14.1. Any tenant who is not satisfied with the way in which the Council has dealt with 

the service they have received regarding the management of rent arrears can 
follow the Council's Corporate Complaints Procedure at www.dartford.gov.uk.  
Complaints leaflets are also available from the Council offices. 

 

15. MONITORING 

 
15.1. Rent arrears are monitored on a weekly basis and data is analysed in terms of 

the value of arrears, geographical area and tenure in order to inform the way 
that the Council tackles rent arrears. The Council uses a number of indicators 
to measure rent arrears, as indicated below: 

 

 HPI-1: Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery – rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed 

 HPI-2.1: Amount of rent arrears as a percentage of debit 

 HPI-24: No: of rent related NOSPs 

 HPI-46: Percentage of Tenants with rent arrears of 7 weeks or more 
 
15.2.  The Council also compares its service alongside other authorities, such as 

through HouseMark returns.  

 

Page 32Agenda Item 7

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


17 
 

16. DATA PROTECTION 
 
16.1. The Data Protection Act 2018 regulates the processing of information relating 

to individuals, which includes the obtaining, holding, using or disclosing of such 
information. 

 
The Council needs to collect and use certain types of information about its 
tenants in order to carry out its everyday business and to fulfil its objectives 
and its statutory functions. 

 
The Council’s: 

 

 Data Protection Policy sets out how it will protect special category and 
criminal convictions personal data; and 

 Housing Services (Landlord and Tenant) Privacy Notice explains that the 
Council collects your personal information to administer its housing 
(landlord and tenant) services.  

 
17. REVIEW 
 
17.1. The ultimate ambition is to transition out of the temporary measures introduced 

by the Coronavirus Act 2020. During this time, this policy will be kept under 
continuous review and will be updated as and when there are further changes 
to legislation and guidance. The policy will then be reviewed every three years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



18 
 

APPENDIX A – RENT ARREARS ESCALATION PROCEDURE 
 

1 week arrears 

 

 

 

 

 

Rent demand letter 

Warning of notice of intention to seek 
possession letter 

 

Phone call 

 

Notice of intention to seek possession 
served 

 

Introductory and demoted 
tenants – right to review 

 

3 month notices 
 

6 contacts made 
(letters, phone call, 

home visit) 

 

6 month notices 
 

11 contacts made 
(letters, phone 
calls/emails, 

visit) 

4 week notices 
 

3 contacts made 
(letters, phone 

call/email) 

Final warning of possession 
proceedings letter 

 

Home visit 

Pre-court appointment letter 

 

Phone call  

 

Court welfare appointment 
(second appointment made if first not attended) 

 

Case reviewed and court approved 

 

Claim for possession submitted to 
court 

 

Court hearing 

 

Page 34Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

APPENDIX B – CUSTOMER ACCES REVIEW 

Assessment details 
 

 

Assessment area Rent Arrears Policy 

Date of assessment 16 December 2020 

Directorate and Service Strategic Directorate (External Services), Housing Services 

Manager Housing Manager 

Officer conducting assessment Housing Policy & Development Officer 
 
 

Step 1: Scoping the assessment 
 

 

1. What are the aims and 
objectives of the activity or 
proposal? 

The Rent Arrears Policy outlines Dartford Borough Council’s approach for preventing and managing rent 
arrears. 
 
The overall objective of the policy is to minimise the level of rent arrears by preventing problems in paying 
rent. To achieve this, the Council aims to: 
 

 ensure all tenants are aware of their responsibility to pay their rent  

 promote and offer a wide variety of payment options 

 promote a payment culture among tenants  

 enable tenants to maximise their income  

 offer advice and support to tenants to reduce rent arrears 

 ensure all communications are clear, customer friendly and encourage contact 

 monitor levels of rent arrears and have early intervention mechanisms in place to prevent arrears 
accruing further 

 take appropriate and proportionate action in accordance with the level of rent arrears  

 sustain tenancies and prevent homelessness by taking eviction action as an absolute last resort and only 
when all other options have been exhausted. 

 
The Council will treat tenants who are in rent arrears fairly, sensitively and sympathetically, while at the 
same time taking a firm approach to ensure that rent owed is collected. 
 
Where rent arrears do accrue, appropriate and proportionate action will be taken in accordance with the 
level of rent arrears and in line with the escalation procedure within the policy. 
 

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 1: Scoping the assessment 
 

 

The policy has been updated in draft. The key updates include the provisions in the Pre-Action Protocol for 
Possession Claims by Social Landlords and the Coronavirus Act 2020 (as explained in Step 1, Question 4 
below), which impose requirements on the Council in the procedures it must follow. The policy has also 
been updated to take account of the introduction of Universal Credit.  

2. Who will be affected by the 
activity or proposal? 

The policy will affect secure, flexible, introductory and demoted tenants of Dartford Borough Council. 

3. How does the activity or 
proposal contribute to: 
a)  any key performance 

indicators? 
b) policies, values or 

objectives of Dartford 
Borough  Council? 

a) HPI-1: Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery – rents collected as a proportion of rents owed 
HPI-2.1: Amount of rent arrears as a percentage of debit 
HPI-24: No: of rent related NOSPs 
HPI-46: Percentage of Tenants with rent arrears of 7 weeks or more 

 
b) The draft Rent Arrears Policy contributes to the Corporate Plan 2017-20 Housing and Stronger 

Communities strategic aims of ‘facilitating quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in 
meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality services to service users’; and ‘creating strong 
and self-reliant communities’. In addition, as the build-up of rent arrears could ultimately lead to a tenant 
losing their home through eviction, the preventative approach to rent arrears in the draft policy relates to 
the aim of preventing homelessness in the Council’s Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Strategy 2019-
23.  

4. Which aspects of the activity 
or proposal are dictated by 
legislation/regulation and 
where do we have discretion 
in how they are delivered? 

The Council follows a range of legislation in regards to rent collection and arrears recovery. These include: 
 

 Housing Act 1985 

 Housing Act 1996 

 Protection from Eviction Act 1977 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 Equality Act 2010 

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 Data Protection Act 2018 

 Coronavirus Act 2020 
 
The draft policy is dictated, in particular, by the requirements of the: 
 
 
 

P
age 36

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 1: Scoping the assessment 
 

 

 Housing Acts 1985 and 1996, relating to the Council taking possession proceedings  

 Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords, which aims to encourage more pre-action 
contact and exchange of information between landlords and tenants; enable the parties to avoid litigation 
by settling the matter, if possible; and enables court time to be used more effectively if proceedings are 
necessary 

 Coronavirus Act 2020, which has made temporary extensions to the notice of intention to seek 
possession periods, and ensures that the courts receive information setting out how tenants and any 
dependants have been affected by the coronavirus pandemic. The government has also announced 
bailiffs will not enforce evictions in England until 11 January 2021 at the earliest, except in the most 
serious circumstances (including extreme rent arrears equivalent to 9 months’ rent with any arrears 
accrued since 23 March discounted, false statement, anti-social behaviour, perpetrators of domestic 
abuse, and where a property is unoccupied following the death of a tenant in relation to assured and 
shorthold tenancies).  

 

The changes to policy apply to all tenants regardless of the protected characteristic groups. Within this 
legislative framework, rent arrears recovery is based on a staged escalation procedure; however, discretion 
is exercised where vulnerable tenants fall into arrears. Extra visits/contact and support, including referrals 
into the Housing Inclusion Service and signposting to external support services may be organised. Discretion 
is also used in reaching affordable repayment plans, which are based on the tenant’s ability to pay taking into 
account their disposable income in proportion to the level of debt. 

 
 

Step 2: Information collection 
 

 

5. What do you know about the 
groups of people who will be 
affected? (i.e. demographic 
information in relation to the 
protected characteristic groups  of 
age, disability, pregnancy and 
maternity, religion or belief, race, 
sex, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership) 

 

The Council provides accommodation for 3,750 tenants in general needs accommodation and housing 
scheme accommodation for older people in 11 schemes supporting 445 tenants. The full information used 
in this assessment can be found in Appendix 1. In summary: 
 

 Of all tenants in general needs and housing scheme accommodation, one third (33%) are currently in 
some form of rent arrears (of amounts under £20 to £2,000+). 
 

 The proportion of tenants in arrears in general needs accommodation is higher than that of tenants in 
housing schemes.  

 

 The proportion of tenants in arrears who are in receipt of Universal Credit is higher than that of tenants in 
receipt of Housing Benefit or not in receipt of any benefits. 

 

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 2: Information collection 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The proportion of tenants in arrears who are female is higher than the proportion of male tenants in 
arrears. 

 

 Nearly three quarters of female tenants are in receipt of Universal Credit. 
 

 A higher proportion of working age tenants are in arrears than older tenants. The proportion of tenants in 
arrears by age group increases the younger the age group. 

 

 The proportion of tenants in arrears by ethnic group is higher in all but one of the Black Minority and 
Ethnic (BME) groups than the White ethnic group. The Other ethnic group has the lowest proportion of 
arrears than all individual ethnic groups. 

 

 Just over one fifth of disabled tenants are in arrears.  
 

 No arrears In arrears 

General needs 64.91% 35.09% 

Housing scheme 86.29% 13.71% 

Universal Credit 31.68% 68.32% 

Housing Benefit 84.41% 15.59% 

Not in receipt of benefits 69.96% 30.04% 

Female 64.12% 35.88% 

Male 72.88% 27.12% 

Age – Under 25 46.75% 53.25% 

Age – 25 to 35  49.59% 50.41% 

Age – 35 to 45 53.99% 46.01% 

Age – 45 to 55 57.14% 42.86% 

Age – 55 to 65 71.14% 28.86% 

Age – 65 to 75 84.39% 15.61% 

Age – 75 to 85 91.86% 8.14% 

Age – 85 plus 96.15% 3.85% 

Ethnicity – White  66.15% 33.85% 

Ethnicity – Mixed/Multiple 58.23% 41.77% 

Ethnicity – Asian/Asian British  58.21% 41.79% 

Ethnicity – Black/African/Caribbean/Black British  53.59% 46.41% 

Ethnicity – Other  76.75% 23.25% 

Ethnicity – Unknown 68.67% 31.33% 

Disability 77.18% 22.82% 
 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 2: Information collection 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 In general, the highest proportion of tenants in arrears in all groups owe up to £500. The proportion of 
tenants owing arrears in the higher amount bands reduces the higher the band. The Rent Arrears Policy 
aims to prevent arrears accruing by taking appropriate and proportionate action in accordance with the 
level of rent arrears. 

 

 Female Male Age – Up 
to 35 

Age – 
35 - 55 

Age – 
55-75 

Age – 
75+ 

Ethnicity 
– White 

Ethnicity 
– BME 

Ethnicity - 
Unknown 

Disability 

Up to 
£500 

50.37% 21.88% 16.18% 33.47% 19.83% 2.74% 43.86% 13.58% 14.59% 74.34% 

£500-
£1,000 

11.91% 3.56% 5.38% 7.56% 2.47% 0.07% 11.04% 2.53% 2.25% 12.57% 

£1,000-
£2,000 

7.34% 2.40% 3.05% 5.38% 1.31% 0.00% 6.61% 1.38% 1.82% 9.42% 

£2,000+ 1.74% 
 

0.80% 0.80% 1.45% 0.28% 0.00% 1.53% 0.50% 0.29% 3.67% 

 

6. What consultation has taken 
place with affected groups? 
Please describe who was 
consulted and the key 
findings 

Consultation on the draft policy has been undertaken internally within the Housing Service. 
 

Comments on the draft updated policy were invited from the Kent Tenancy Management Sub Group of the 
Kent Housing Group. This group includes representation from across the local authority and housing 
association membership. The group considers best practice, problem solving and producing strategic and 
operations documents to ensure high quality consistent approaches to all elements of housing management 
for the residents of Kent. 
 

The Dartford Tenants’ and Leaseholders’ Forum were consulted on the draft updated policy. The Forum 
aims 'to ensure that the services delivered by the Council are accessible to all'. The Forum works as a group 
to ensure that the views and housing needs of residents are recognised and addressed by the Council, and 
that those needs and views are placed at the centre of housing services delivery. 
 

There were no equality issues raised regarding the draft policy from the consultations. 

7. Are there any gaps in 
information? If so, what 
additional research and/or 
consultation is needed to 
ensure that affected groups 
needs and views are taken 
into account?  

The ethnicity data of around 20% of tenants is unknown.  
 

Some information is collected on the protected characteristics of tenants by gender reassignment, 
religion/belief and sexual orientation. However, the amount of this information is limited.  
 
 
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact  
 

8. Consider whether the activity or proposal has or will have any positive or negative equality impacts on the protected characteristic 
groups in relation to the following aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty: 
  
a) tackling unlawful discrimination 
b) promoting equality of opportunity 
c) promoting good relations 

 

NOTES: 

 The Initial Screening will have identified which aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty are relevant to the activity or proposal for consideration  

 For existing activities, consider how they are working in practice for each relevant protected group 

 For new proposals, consider whether there is anything that could give rise to positive and negative equality impacts for each relevant protected group 

 If there is no identified equality impact, please tick the ‘No Impact’ box and explain why in question 9  

 If the equality impact is unclear, please tick the ‘Unknown’ box and explain why in question 9 
 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact  
 

    

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTIC POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN 

Age Housing Scheme Officers will make 
additional contact with tenants in 
arrears in housing schemes for older 
people. Additional contact will also 
be made to older tenants in arrears 
in general needs accommodation. 
The aim is to ensure that older 
vulnerable tenants receive all the 
support they need at the earliest 
stage. 

The proportion of tenants in arrears 
by age group is higher the younger 
the age group. In particular, a higher 
proportion of tenants of working age 
are in arrears than older tenants. This 
coincides with just over two thirds of 
tenants in receipt of Universal Credit 
being in arrears. Universal Credit is 
paid five weeks in arrears as a single 
monthly household payment. The 
tenant then has the responsibility to 
pass the housing cost element of 
Universal Credit onto the Council to 
pay the rent. Whereas, with Housing 
Benefit payments, these are made to 
the Council directly on a weekly 
basis. This is a significant change to 
the way benefits have previously 

☐ ☐ 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact  
 

    

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTIC POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN 

been paid and requires tenants to 
manage their budgets effectively. The 
responsibility to pass the housing 
cost element on as rent and the fact 
that tenants are already five weeks in 
arrears with their rent by the time they 
receive their first payment, has led to 
arrears levels increasing. The 
mechanisms of Universal Credit are 
outside the control of the Council. 
However, the draft policy does 
stipulate the work the Council will 
carry out to assist tenants to resolve 
any benefit problems (as outlined in 
Step 3, Question 11 below). 

Disability A green triangle system is in place 
to ensure disabled tenants are 
identified at the earliest stage of the 
arrears collection process. The aim 
is to ensure that disabled tenants 
receive all the support they need at 
the earliest stage. Additional contact 
will also be made to disabled 
tenants in arrears. 
 
For disabled tenants, the Council 
can provide information about rent 
arrears in alternative formats 
including:  
 

 Braille, audio tape and large print 
versions of documents  

 ☐ ☐ 

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact  
 

    

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTIC POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN 

 British Sign Language 
interpreting  

 
Calls can be received via Relay UK. 

Sex  The proportion of female tenants in 
arrears is higher than male tenants 
in arrears. Of all tenants in receipt of 
Universal Credit, just over two thirds 
are in arrears. Nearly three quarters 
of female tenants are in receipt of 
Universal Credit. Universal Credit is 
paid five weeks in arrears as a 
single monthly household payment. 
The tenant then has the 
responsibility to pass the housing 
cost element of Universal Credit 
onto the Council to pay the rent. 
Whereas, with Housing Benefit 
payments, these are made to the 
Council directly on a weekly basis. 
This is a significant change to the 
way benefits have previously been 
paid and requires tenants to manage 
their budgets effectively. The 
responsibility to pass the housing 
cost element on as rent and the fact 
that tenants are already five weeks 
in arrears with their rent by the time 
they receive their first payment, has 
led to arrears levels increasing. The 
mechanisms of Universal Credit are 
outside the control of the Council. 

☐ ☐ 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact  
 

    

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTIC POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN 

However, the draft policy does 
stipulate the work the Council will 
carry out to assist tenants to resolve 
any benefit problems (as outlined in 
Step 3, Question 11 below). 

Gender reassignment   ☒ ☐ 
Race For tenants where English is not 

their first language, the Council can 
provide information in alternative 
formats including:  
 

 Documents translated into other 
languages  

 Telephone and face-to-face 
interpreting  

The proportion of tenants in arrears 
is slightly higher in all but one of the 
Black Minority and Ethnic (BME) 
groups than the White ethnic group. 
The Other ethnic group has the 
lowest proportion of arrears than all 
individual ethnic groups. However, 
the ethnicity of around 20% of 
tenants is unknown. With improved 
information collection on ethnicity, 
this would provide a more accurate 
understanding of arrears levels for 
the ethnic groups.   

☐ ☐ 

Religion/Belief   ☒ ☐ 
Sexual Orientation   ☒ ☐ 
Pregnancy/Maternity   ☒ ☐ 
Marriage and Civil Partnership*    ☒ ☐ 

* Regarding the protected characteristic of Marriage and Civil Partnership – public bodies need to comply with the first aim of the Public Sector Equality Duty and only in 
the context of employment. 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 
 

 

9. If ‘no impact’ or ‘unknown’ was selected, please 
explain 

There is no evidence to suggest that the policy will have a disproportionate 
impact on people because of gender reassignment; religion/belief; pregnancy 
and maternity; and, sexual orientation. However, information collection on these 
protected characteristic groups could be improved as a matter of good practice. 
 
This assessment does not apply in the context of employment, therefore the 
protected characteristic group of marriage and civil partnership has not been 
subject to this assessment.  

10. If Dartford Borough Council works with partners to 
deliver the activity or proposal, please describe any 
circumstances that could give rise to positive or 
negative equality impacts between different groups 

The Council makes every effort to establish effective ongoing liaison with the 
Housing Benefit department and the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP). The Council is a Trusted Provider and signed up to the DWP’s Landlord 
Portal. With the tenant’s consent, the Council make direct contact with the 
Housing Benefit department or DWP before taking enforcement action. 
 
The Housing Management Team works in partnership with various third sector 
agencies to maximise the support available to tenants. 
 
The Housing Management Team works closely with the Housing Solutions 
Team to provide support to tenants in rent arrears and in the prevention of 
homelessness.  
 
There are no known circumstances where these working arrangements will 
have a disproportionate impact on the protected characteristic groups other 
than to positively resolve problems occurring in paying the rent and arrears. 

11. Any other comments Vulnerable tenants 
Without support, vulnerable tenants can be at increased risk of accruing rent 
arrears. The Council aims to ensure that tenants receive all the support they 
need at the earliest stage. The Council keeps a record of all tenants who state 
they are vulnerable, and this is taken into account in communications. The draft 
policy explains that if the Council is aware that a tenant has difficulty in reading 
or understanding information given regarding their rent account and arrears, 
reasonable steps will be taken to ensure that the tenant understands any 
information given. This may include carrying out additional home visits, 

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 
 

 

signposting to appropriate advocacy and support services and providing 
information in alternative formats. 
 
If a tenant requires additional support to resolve difficulties they are having on 
their ability to pay the rent, a referral may be made to the Council’s Housing 
Inclusion Service. This service takes a holistic and practical approach to 
resolving problems and preventing homelessness by improving outcomes in a 
range of areas, including:  
 

 housing options  

 managing money, claiming benefits and debt, including rent arrears 

 registering with a doctor, or getting help from other services 

 accessing education, training or work opportunities. 
 
When a vulnerable tenant is in arrears, the Council will follow its escalation 
procedure, but extra visits may be organised. The Housing Officer will also seek 
to refer the person to the appropriate advice and support organisations. 
 
The Council may apply for Alternative Payment Arrangements for vulnerable 
tenants who cannot manage their single monthly payment where they are 
claiming Universal Credit. 
 
Under the Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords, if the 
Council is aware that the tenant is particularly vulnerable, it will consider at an 
early stage: 
 

1) whether or not the tenant has the mental capacity to defend possession 
proceedings to the extent to which CPR 21 applies; 

2) whether or not any issues arise under the Equality Act 2010; and 
3) in the case of a local authority landlord, whether or not there is a need for a 

community care assessment in accordance with the Care Act 2014.  
 
 
 

P
age 45

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 
 

 

Payment options 
The Council aims to ensure that tenants are able to pay their rent as easily as 
possible, in a way that suits them and their lifestyle. The draft policy explains 
the Council does this by providing a range of different payment options, which 
take into account today’s technology but also provide more traditional payment 
options, including:  
 

 Direct debit or standing order  

 Over the phone by Switch, Visa Debit, MasterCard, Visa, Electron or Solo  

 Online by debit or credit card using the Council’s website  

 By post (by sending a cheque or postal order)  

 Electronic Payment Card (Swipe Card), which can be used at Payzone or 
the Post Office  

 By Touch Tone (automated payment service available 24 hours a day, 7 
days a week)  

 At the Council’s Civic Centre cash machine. 
 
Welfare benefits 
The draft policy explains that the Council aims to maximise tenant’s income by 
informing them of benefits they are entitled to, including Housing Benefit, 
Universal Credit and Discretionary Housing Payments. The Council will work 
with tenants to assist in resolving any benefit problems, and will apply for direct 
payments, where necessary. The Council will not take possession proceedings 
where the tenant has provided all the evidence required to process a claim for 
Housing Benefit or Universal Credit; there is a reasonable expectation of 
eligibility of Housing Benefit or Universal Credit; and, they have paid sums due 
that are not covered by Housing Benefit or Universal Credit.  
 

Coronavirus Act 2020 and possession proceedings 
The coronavirus global pandemic will inevitably impact on some tenants ability 
to pay their rent if they have suffered bereavement, are sick or caring for others, 
have incurred a loss of income or employment. The Coronavirus Act 2020 has 
introduced temporary extensions to notices of intention to seek possession. 
While the delay to the notice periods will have an impact on the level of rent 

P
age 46

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 
 

 

arrears increasing, it also provides the opportunity and time to carry out 
additional work with tenants to resolve problems in paying rent – the ultimate 
aim being to avoid the need to carry on with possession proceedings. The draft 
updated policy builds in additional pre-action contact for this purpose. 

Step 4: Action plan 
 

12. Based on the information in Steps 1 to 3, please list the actions that will be taken to address: 
a)  any gaps in information and consultation 
b)  how any negative impacts on equality will be mitigated or eradicated 

 

a) If additional information and/or consultation is required or the impact is still unclear, what actions will you put in place to gather 
the information you need? 

 

Information needs  Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored 

Responsible officer 

The ethnicity data of 
around 20% of tenants 
is unknown. There is 
also limited 
information on the 
protected 
characteristic groups 
of gender 
reassignment, 
religion/belief and 
sexual orientation 

Improve information 
collection e.g. in 
housing applications, 
tenancy sign-ups, 
tenancy verification 
checks etc 

Improved information 
will better inform the 
impact of future 
housing policy  

Ongoing Through further 
Customer Access 
Review assessments 

Housing Manager 

 

b) If any negative impacts on equality were found, what actions will you put in place to mitigate or eradicate these impacts?   
 

Identified impacts 
(and who is affected) 

Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored 

Responsible officer 

None      
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

 

Step 5: Decision making and future monitoring 
 

 

13. Which decision making process does this Customer 
Access Review need to go through? i.e. who does this 
need to be approved by? 

Strategic Director (External Services) 

14. Is the subject of the Customer Access Review going to 
committee? If yes, include your findings in the committee 
report and attach this assessment to the report 

☒  Yes   ☐  No 
 

15. How will you continue to monitor the activity or proposal 
on protected characteristic groups? 

Rent arrears are monitored on a weekly basis and the Council uses a 
number of indicators to measure rent arrears (as outlined in Step 1, 
Question 3 above). 

16. When will you review this Customer Access Review? As the draft policy includes temporary measures introduced by the 
Coronavirus Act 2020, the aim is to keep the policy under continuous 
review. The policy will be updated if there are further changes to 
legislation and guidance. This Customer Access Review will be 
reassessed at the same time as the policy review. The policy and 
Customer Access Review will then be reviewed every three years. 

 
 

 

Step 6: Final steps 
 
17. Once this Customer Access Review has been approved, send this assessment to the Policy & Projects Officer  

18. Implement the actions identified from this Customer Access Review and ensure progress is monitored and recorded  

 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 – Tenant Profile Information  
 

The tenant profile information used in this assessment is based on data from the lead tenant 
(Tenant 1). 

 

Tenants in rent arrears  

 
Of all tenants, in general needs and housing scheme accommodation, 67% of tenants are not in 
rent arrears and 33% are in rent arrears (from under £20 to £2,000+) (Chart 1). 
 
Chart 1: Percentage of all tenants - no arrears and in arrears 

 
 
Of the 33% of tenants in arrears, 72.26% owe up to £500; 15.47% owe £500 to £1,000; 9.73% owe 
£1,000 to £2,000; and 2.54% owe £2,000 plus (Chart 2). 
 
Chart 2: Tenants in arrears by amount 

 
 
Of the total tenants, 89.39% are living in general needs accommodation and 10.61% are living in 
housing scheme accommodation. 31.37% of general needs tenants are in arrears compared to 
1.46% housing scheme tenants are in arrears (Chart 3). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

67%

33%

No arrears In arrears

8.35%

19.39%
21.06%

23.46%

9.30%

6.17%

9.73%

2.54%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

Under
20

20 - 100 100 -
250

250 -
500

500 -
750

750 -
1000

1000 -
2000

2000+

Page 49 Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

 
Chart 3: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears – general needs and housing scheme 

 
When looking separately at the total number of general needs tenants in arrears compared to 
general needs tenant not in arrears, just over one third (35.09%) are in arrears. This compares to 
13.71% of housing scheme tenants in arrears (Chart 4).  
 
Chart 4: Ratio of tenants in no arrears and in arrears – general needs and housing scheme 

 

 
 

Tenants in receipt of benefits  

64.77% of tenants are in receipt of either Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, which covers the 
rent in part or in full. 35.23% of tenants are not in receipt of any benefits (Chart 5).  
 
Chart 5: Percentage of tenants in receipt of Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and not in receipt of benefits  

 

58.02%

9.15%

31.37%

1.46%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

General needs Housing scheme

No arrears In arrears

64.91%
86.29%

35.09%
13.71%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

General needs Housing scheme

No arrears In arrears

41.74%

23.03%

35.23%

Housing Benefit Universal Credit No benefit

Page 50Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Just over two thirds (68.32%) of tenants who are in receipt of Universal Credit are in some form of 
arrears compared to 15.59% of tenants in receipt of Housing Benefit and 30.04% of tenants who 
are not in receipt of any benefits (Chart 6).  

 
Chart 6: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears - in receipt of Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and not in receipt of benefits  

 
The level of arrears that tenants in receipt of Universal Credit are in is shown in Chart 7: 

Chart 7: Tenants in arrears by amount – in receipt of Universal Credit  

 
 

Gender 

65% tenants are female and 35% tenants are male (Chart 8). 
 
Chart 8: Profile of tenants - gender 

 
 

15.59%

68.32%

30.04%

84.41%

31.68%

69.96%

0.00% 20.00% 40.00% 60.00% 80.00% 100.00%

Housing Benefit

Universal Credit

No benefit

No arrears In arrears

2.42%

11.67%

18.64%

27.88%

11.36%
8.94%

15.30%

3.79%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

Under
20

20 >
100

100 >
250

250 >
500

500 >
750

750 >
1000

1000 >
2000

2000 >

65%

35%

Female Male

Page 51 Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Of the total tenants, more female tenants (23.44%) are in rent arrears than male tenants (9.40%), 
which is to be expected, as there are a third more female tenants than male tenants (Chart 9). 
 

Chart 9: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears - gender  

 
When looking separately at the total number of female tenants in arrears compared to female 
tenants not in arrears, just over one third (35.88%) are in arrears. This compares to 27.11% of male 
tenants in arrears (Chart 10). As mentioned above, just over two thirds of tenants who are in receipt 
of Universal Credit are in some form or arrears. Of the tenants in receipt of Universal Credit, nearly 
three quarters (73.53%) are female tenants. 
 

Chart 10: Ratio of tenants in no arrears and in arrears - gender 

 
 

Of the tenants in arrears by gender, the level of rent arrears is shown in Chart 11: 
 

Chart 11: Tenants in arrears by amount - gender 

 

41.89%

25.27%
23.44%

9.40%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

40.00%

45.00%

Female Male

No arrears In arrears

64.12% 72.88%

35.88% 27.12%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Female Male

No arrears In arrears

4.80%

13.52%

15.41%
16.64%

7.19%

4.72%

7.34%

1.74%

3.56%

5.89% 5.60%
6.83%

2.11%
1.45%

2.40%

0.80%

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

16.00%

18.00%

Under
20

20 > 100 100 >
250

250 >
500

500 >
750

750 >
1000

1000 >
2000

2000 >

Female Male

Page 52Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Age  
 

16.45% of tenants are aged up to 35 years; 35.44% are aged 35 to 55 years; 34.40% are aged 55 
to 75 years; and 13.71% are aged 75 years plus (Chart 12). 
 

Chart 12: Profile of tenants - age 

 
A higher proportion of tenants of working age are in arrears than older tenants. 8.34% of tenants 
aged up to 35 years are in arrears compared to 15.71% of tenants aged 35 to 55 years; 7.84% of 
tenants aged 55 to 75 years; and 0.93% of tenants aged 75 years plus (Chart 13).  
 

Chart 13: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears – age 

 
When looking separately at the total number of tenants in each age band in arrears compared to 
not in arrears, the proportion increases the younger the age group (Chart 14). 
 

Chart 14: Ratio of tenants in no arrears and in arrears - age 

 
 

1.84%

14.61%
16.42%

19.02% 18.67%

15.73%

9.37%

4.34%

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

16.00%

18.00%

20.00%

Under
25

25 - 35 35 - 45 45 - 55 55 - 65 65 - 75 75 - 85 85+

0.86%

7.25%

8.87%

10.87%

13.28% 13.28%

8.60%

4.17%

0.98%

7.36% 7.56%
8.15%

5.39%

2.45%

0.76%
0.17%

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

Under
25

25 - 35 35 - 45 45 - 55 55 - 65 65 - 75 75 - 85 85+

No arrears In arrears

46.75% 49.59% 53.99% 57.14%
71.14%

84.39% 91.86% 96.15%

53.25% 50.41% 46.01% 42.86%
28.86%

15.61% 8.14% 3.85%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Under
25

25 - 35 35 - 45 45 - 55 55 - 65 65 - 75 75 - 85 85+

No arrears In arrears

Page 53 Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Of the tenants in arrears by age, the level of rent arrears is shown in Chart 15: 
 

Chart 15: Tenants in arrears by amount - age 

 
 

Ethnicity 

 
61.12% of Council tenants are from a White ethnic group and 19.02% are from a Black Minority 
Ethnic (BME) group. The ethnicity of 19.86% of tenants is unknown. The BME groups are made 
up of four broad groups (Asian/Asian British; Black/African/Caribbean/Black British; Mixed/Multiple 
and Other). The Other ethnic group is the largest BME group with 11.89% tenants, the majority of 
which are within the European Non Irish group (Chart 16.) 
 
Chart 16: Profile of tenants - ethnicity 

 
 

Overall, the highest proportion of tenants in rent arrears are from the White ethnic group, which is 
to be expected as this is the largest ethnic group in the tenant profile (Chart 17). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

7.00%

Under
25

25 - 35 35 - 45 45 - 55 55 - 65 65 - 75 75 - 85 85+

Under 20 20 - 100 100 - 250 250 - 500

500 - 750 750 - 1000 1000 - 2000 2000+

61.12%

1.88%

1.60%

3.65%

11.89%

19.86%

0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 30.00% 40.00% 50.00% 60.00% 70.00%

White

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups

Asian/Asian British

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Other ethnic group

Unknown

Page 54Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Chart 17: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears – ethnicity 

 
When looking separately at the total number of tenants in each ethnic group in arrears compared 
to not in arrears, 46.41% are in arrears in the Black/African/Caribbean/Black British group. This is 
followed by 41.79% in the Asian/Asian British group; 41.77% in the Mixed/Multiple ethnic group; 
33.85% in the White ethnic group; and 23.25% in the Other ethnic group (Chart 18). 
 

Chart 18: Ratio of tenants in no arrears and in arrears - ethnicity 

 
Of the tenants in arrears by ethnicity, the level of rent arrears is shown in Chart 19: 
 

Chart 19: Tenants in arrears by amount - ethnicity 

 
 

20.69%

0.79%

0.67%

1.69%

2.76%

6.22%

40.43%

1.09%

0.93%

1.96%

9.13%

13.64%

0.00% 5.00% 10.00%15.00%20.00%25.00%30.00%35.00%40.00%45.00%

White

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups

Asian/Asian British

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

Other ethnic group

Unknown

No arrears In arrears

66.15% 58.23% 58.21% 53.59%
76.75% 68.67%

33.85% 41.77% 41.79% 46.41%
23.25% 31.33%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

No arrears In arrears

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

16.00%

Under 20 20 - 100 100 - 250 250 - 500 500 - 750 750 -
1000

1000 -
2000

2000+

White
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups
Asian/Asian British
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British
Other ethnic group
Unknown

Page 55 Agenda Item 7



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment 
 

 

Disability 

 
19.95% of tenants have a disability and 80.05% do not have a disability (Chart 20).   
 

Chart 20: Profile of tenants – disability 

 
When looking at the total number of disabled tenants in arrears compared to disabled tenants not 
in arrears, 22.82% are in arrears (Chart 21).  
 

Chart 21: Tenants in no arrears and in arrears - disability 

 
Of the disabled tenants in arrears, the level of arrears is shown in Chart 22.  

 
Chart 22: Tenants in arrears by amount - disability 

 

19.95%

80.05%

Disability No disability

77.18%

22.82%

No arrears In arrears

13.61%

28.80%

15.18%
16.75%

7.33%

5.24%

9.42%

3.67%

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

35.00%

Under 20 20 - 100 100 - 250 250 - 500 500 - 750 750 -
1000

1000 -
2000

2000+

Page 56Agenda Item 7



                 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 

 

SD (IS) 
 

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2021/22 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To consider granting discretionary rate relief to ratepayers who 

have made applications in respect of 2021/22 or who will have 
made an application by 1 March 2021. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1. That the maximum level of discretionary rate relief for 2021/22 for 

the organisations listed in Appendix A to the report be determined 
in accordance with the detailed recommendations set out in 
Appendix A. 
 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

Annual Discretionary Rate Relief  
 

3.1. Depending upon their circumstances ratepayers may be eligible for 
mandatory rate relief, mandatory rural rate relief or small business 
rate relief.  

 
Charities and sports organisations that have charitable status 
currently receive 80% mandatory relief. In order to qualify for the 
mandatory relief, the organisation must be established for charitable 
purposes only and the premises must be wholly or mainly used for 
charitable purposes.  
 
In addition, sports clubs registered with HMRC as community 
amateur sports clubs are also entitled to 80% mandatory relief. 
 

3.2. Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended) 
allows the Council to grant discretionary rate relief of up to 100% to 
any ratepayer.   

 
3.3. Discretionary rate relief can be awarded in isolation or given to ‘top-

up’ a mandatory award or to supplement assistance given via the 
small business rate relief scheme. 

 
3.4. However, unless one of the following apply, the Council may only 

grant discretionary rate relief if it is satisfied that it would be 
reasonable to do so, having regard to the interests of  council tax 
payers: 

Page 57 Agenda Item 8



                 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 

SD (IS)  

 

 The ratepayer is a charity or trustee for a charity, and the property 
is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes; or 

 

 The ratepayer is a community amateur sports club and the 
property is wholly or mainly used for the purpose of the club and 
other such clubs; or 

 

 The ratepayer is entitled to mandatory rural rate relief; or 
 

 All or part of the property is occupied by non-profit making 
organisations whose main objects are charitable or are otherwise 
philanthropic or religious or concerned with education, social 
welfare, science, literature or the fine arts; or 

 

 The property is occupied by a club, society or other non-profit 
making organisation and it is wholly or mainly used for purposes 
of recreation.  

  
3.5. The types of property eligible for discretionary rate relief are specified 

in Appendix B.  The qualifying conditions for Small Business Rate 
Relief (as prescribed by legislation) are also set out in Appendix B.   
 

3.6. On 26 January 2017, Cabinet reviewed and determined the criteria 
for eligibility for all types of discretionary rate relief as set out in 
Appendix C (Minute No. 109).  These criteria cover all cases where 
the decision to grant relief is not dependent upon the award being in 
the interests of council tax payers. 

 
 

3.7. Applications from ratepayers who do not satisfy the stated criteria will 
be considered on their merits and individual recommendations will be 
made taking into consideration the benefit to the community as a 
whole. 

 
3.8. On 10 March 2005, Cabinet had previously determined the levels of 

discretionary rate relief applicable to businesses eligible for Small 
Business Rate Relief: 
 

 Where maximum Small Business Rate Relief is available, no 
discretionary rate relief should be awarded; 
 

 Where the ratepayers will only benefit from the application of 
the lower multiplier, discretionary rate relief should continue to 
be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix C; 
 

Page 58Agenda Item 8



                 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 

SD (IS)  

 Where no relief is available because businesses occupy more 
than one property within England, discretionary rate relief 
should continue to be awarded at the rate outlined in Appendix 
C; and 
 

 Where relief amounting to less than the current discretionary 
percentage is due, the level of mandatory relief should be 
“topped-up” by discretionary rate relief so that the ratepayer 
receives the same level of assistance as the level of 
discretionary relief outlined in Appendix C. 

 
(Minute no.352) 

 
3.9. Ratepayers seeking discretionary rate relief are required to submit an 

application for Small Business Rate Relief (where potentially eligible) 
as a pre-requisite to the consideration of the award of discretionary 
rate relief.  

 
3.10. Applications for discretionary rate relief may be made up to six 

months after the end of the financial year for which relief is sought.  
No discretionary rate relief can be awarded if an application is made 
outside of the statutory timeframe.  Once awarded, discretionary rate 
relief may only be withdrawn or reduced if a minimum of 12 months’ 
notice has been given to the recipient. 
 

3.11. To ensure that discretionary support given to businesses remains 
appropriate, awards are only made for one financial year and 
recipients are required to reapply each year. 

 
Rural rate relief top-up 

 
3.12. In the Autumn Statement of 2016 the Government announced the 

intention to double mandatory rural rate relief to 100% from 1 April 
2017.  However, this required an amendment to primary legislation. 
As a temporary measure local authorities were advised to use 
discretionary powers to award the additional 50% relief which would 
be reimbursed by way of a section 31 grant.   

 
3.13. In the absence of primary legislation the government expects that 

local authorities will continue to use local discount powers to grant 
100% rural rate relief to eligible ratepayers until further notice, with 
appropriate reimbursement.  

 
3.14. Paragraphs 7.1, 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5 in Appendix C already cater for this 

extension of relief. 
 

 

Page 59 Agenda Item 8



                 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 

SD (IS)  

Financial implications 
 

3.15. Since 1 April 2013, all discretionary relief granted has come under the 
provisions of the Business Rate Retention scheme. 

 
3.16. The cost of relief is effectively shared between Central Government 

(50%), and local authorities (50%). Of this, the Council is required to 
fund 40%. 

 
3.17. When setting the business rates baseline for 2013/14, the 

Government broadly used the existing levels of discretionary relief. 
Because of the operation of the levy and safety net on the business 
rate retention scheme, it is not possible to say exactly what the actual 
effect of granting the relief will be and it may vary between years. For 
example, if the Council was already at the safety net, then granting 
additional relief would have no direct impact for that year, but would 
have an impact as soon as the Council moved out of the safety net. 

 
3.18. Therefore Appendix A only refers to the gross discretionary relief 

proposed.   
 
Cases to be considered for 2021/22  
 
3.19. Appendix A contains the details of each ratepayer to be considered 

for relief for 2021/22 and recommends the level of relief to be applied.    
 
3.20. All ratepayers fall within the criteria contained within Appendix C. 
 
3.21. In the Spending Review on 25 November 2020 the Chancellor 

announced a multiplier freeze for 2021/22 (confirmed in Business 
Rate Information Letter 9/2020 on 15 December 2020).  The small 
business non-domestic rating multiplier will therefore be set at 49.9p 
and the standard non-domestic rating multiplier will be set at 51.2p. 

 
3.22. The estimated level of relief is based upon the multipliers set out in 

paragraph 3.21.  Ultimately, should the multipliers change a further 
report setting out the revised relief awards will be submitted. 
 

3.23. If applications are approved, the total gross relief granted would be 
£42,402. 
 

3.24. Members should be aware that the requirement for relief can change 
during the financial year as a result of rateable value changes, 
vacations etc.  Therefore, some of these awards may not ultimately 
require full funding.     

 
 
 

Page 60Agenda Item 8



                 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 

SD (IS)  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications As noted in paragraphs 3.15 to 3.18, 
Appendix A sets out the proposed gross 
discretionary rate relief to be granted. 
 
S31 grants will be made to compensate 
for the top up to mandatory rural rate 
relief. 
 

Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A Discretionary Rate Relief Applications & Recommendations  
 
Appendix B  Types of Property Eligible for Discretionary Rate Relief 
 
Appendix C  Criteria for granting Discretionary Rate Relief 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Discretionary 
Relief 
Applications 

 
Various 

  
Sue Cressall 
01732 227041 

 
Revenues 
Strategic 

 
N/a  

 

Page 61 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



CABINET

28 JANUARY 2021

AGENDA ITEM

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2021/22 RELIEF FOR 2021/22 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21942030 CAS COMMUNITY SOLUTIONS CIC OLD FIRE STATION 80 5,585.53£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.3 

applies

21017204 CENTRAL PARK ATHLETICS LTD ADJ THE PAVILION CENTRAL PARK 40 209.58£                      

Recommended - Appendix C para 5.3 

applies - no SBRR entitlement due to 

2nd property

21050608 1ST DARTFORD (ST ALBAN) SCOUT GROUP ST ALBANS SCOUT GROUP 20 373.76£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 2 applies  

21259606 1ST GALLEY HILL SCOUT GROUP 110 CHURCH ROAD 20 250.88£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21170400 1ST NEW BARN SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HALL 20 238.08£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21152908 1ST SUTTON AT HONE SCOUT GROUP R/O 53 MAIN ROAD 20 455.68£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21013300 3RD DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 3RD DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP 20 322.56£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21102106 5TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUT GROUP ADJ 62 WEST HILL 20 394.24£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21069506 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 8TH DARTFORD SCOUT GROUP 20 286.72£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21226706 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 9TH DARTFORD BOY SCOUTS 20 271.36£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21074201 ANSON SEA CADET CORPS SEA SCOUTS BROOKLANDS LAKE 20 870.40£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 2 applies

21846931 CHERISHED MEMORIES SUPPORT GROUP PT 1ST FLR 6 CHICHESTER ROAD 20 176.64£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21951838 CHOICE SUPPORT 3 ORCHARD STREET 20 983.04£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21944229 CITIZENS ADVICE IN NORTH & WEST KENT 8 COPPERFIELDS SHOPPING CENTRE 20 1,152.00£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21065602 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 61.44£                        

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021.  Appendix C para 2 applies

21103406 DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP DARTFORD CAMBRIA SEA SCOUT GROUP 20 222.72£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021.  Appendix C para 2 applies

21013409 DARTFORD DISTRICT SCOUT HQ 7 BROOMHILL ROAD 20 573.44£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21848549 DARTFORD JUDO CLUB STONE LODGE 20 8,294.40£                   

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 4.1 applies

2189667X DARTFORD LIONS CLUB DARTFORD LIONS CLUB HEATH LANE 20 276.48£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.4 

applies

APPLICATIONS FOR 2021/2022

P
age 63

A
genda Item

 8



CABINET

28 JANUARY 2021

AGENDA ITEM

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2021/22 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21278507 FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE FLEETDOWN COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 1,203.20£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21507406 WILMINGTON COMMUNITY CHURCH THE MANSE 20 227.84£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 4.1 applies

21857362 HOME-START NORTH WEST KENT LTD LHS 2 TEMPLE HILL SQUARE 20 286.72£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 4.1 applies

21154103 JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE JOYDENS WOOD COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 901.12£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021.  Appendix C para 6.1 applies

21157404 MEMORIAL HALL WILMINGTON 96 HIGH ROAD 20 327.68£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21379409 NORTH KENT MIND 20 WEST HILL 20 2,048.00£                   

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 4.1 applies

21916451 ROYAL NAVAL ASSOCIATION DARTFORD BRANCH ROYAL VICTORIA MILL HALL 20 542.72£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

2117660X RSPCA 37 GORDON ROAD 20 286.72£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21884161 RSPCA 2 & 3 MARKET PLACE 20 2,816.00£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21133604 SOUTHFLEET VILLAGE HALL TRUSTEES VILLAGE HALL 20 563.20£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 6.1 applies

21881370 ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE ST ANSELMS COMMUNITY CENTRE 20 1,971.20£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21138601 STONE (DARTFORD) SCOUT GROUP SCOUT HUT 20 117.76£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 2 

applies

21150406 SUTTON AT HONE VILLAGE HALL 63 MAIN ROAD 20 465.92£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21889338 TG YMCA LTD GND FLR DARTFORD YMCA 20 2,995.20£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934295 TG YMCA LTD 1ST FLR DARTFORD YMCA 20 2,867.20£                   
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

P
age 64

A
genda Item

 8



CABINET

28 JANUARY 2021

AGENDA ITEM

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2021/22 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

21934301 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 1 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934310 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 2 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

2193432X TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 3 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934339 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 4 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934348 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 5 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934357 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 6 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934366 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 7 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934375 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 8 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934384 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 9 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934393 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 10 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

2193440X TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 11 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934419 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 12 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934428 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 13 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934437 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 14 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934446 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 15 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934455 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 16 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934464 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 17 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934473 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 18 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934482 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 19 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21934491 TG YMCA LTD CAR SPACE 20 DARTFORD YMCA 20 35.84£                        
Recommended - Appendix C para 6.1 

applies

21148707 THE HAWLEY PAVILION TRUST THE PAVILION 20 186.88£                      
Recommended - Appendix C para 4.1 

applies

21165302 WEST KENT GIRL GUIDES PAXWOOD 20 716.80£                      

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 2 applies

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 8



CABINET

28 JANUARY 2021

AGENDA ITEM

Appendix A 

ACCOUNT REF ORGANISATION NAME PROPERTY ADDRESS % FOR 2019/20 RECOMMENDATIONS/COMMENTS

2188355X VILLAGE SHOP 221 HIGH ROAD 100 £2,162.33

Recommended - Subject to 

application being received by 1 March 

2021. Appendix C para 7.3 applies - 

entitled to SBRR so discretionary top-up 

to 100%

PROJECTED DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF FOR 2020/21 NUMBER AMOUNT

(EXISTING RECIPIENTS)

Total recommended 57 42,402.24£           

Total not recommended 0 -£                      

P
age 66

A
genda Item

 8



  
  

 APPENDIX B 
 

SD (IS) 

 
PROPERTY ELIGIBLE 

FOR RATE RELIEF 

 
TYPE OF 
RELIEF 

 
AMOUNT 

OF RELIEF 

 
Property wholly or 
mainly used for 
charitable purposes 
which is occupied by a 
Registered, Excepted or 
Exempt Charity 
 

 
Mandatory charitable 
 
 
Discretionary charitable 
 
 

 
80% 

 
 

Up to a further 20% 
 

 
Property, all or part of 
which is occupied for 
the non-profit making:- 
 

a) Institution or 
other 
organisation 
whose main 
objectives are 
philanthropic or 
religious or 
concerned with 
education, 
social welfare, 
science, 
literature or the 
fine arts or; 

 
b) Club, society or 

other 
organisation 
and is used for 
the purposes of 
recreation. 

 
 

 
Discretionary non-profit 
making 

 
Up to 100% 

 
Property, all or part of 
which is occupied, other 
than as a trustee, by a 
charging or precepting 
authority. 
 

 
None 

 
None 

   

Page 67 Agenda Item 8



  
  

 APPENDIX B 
 

SD (IS) 

 
PROPERTY ELIGIBLE 

FOR RATE RELIEF 

 
TYPE OF 
RELIEF 

 
AMOUNT 

OF RELIEF 

 
 
 
Property (having a 
rateable value of 
£12,500 or less) which 
is the only Public House 
or Petrol Station in a 
designated rural 
settlement. 
 

 
 
 

Mandatory rural 
 
 
 

Discretionary rural 

 
 
 

50% 
 
 
 

Up to a further 50% 

 
Property (having a 
rateable value between 
£8,501 and £16,500) 
which is in a designated 
rural settlement and 
which is a Post Office or 
General Store or is of 
benefit to the local 
community. 
 

 
Discretionary rural 

 
Up to 
100% 

 
Eligible properties with 
a rateable value of 
£12,000 or less 
 
 
Eligible properties with 
rateable values 
between £12,001 and 
£14,999 
 
     
 
     
Eligible properties  with 
rateable values 
between £15,000 and 
£51,000 
 

 
Mandatory small business 

 
100% plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier  
 
 
0% - 100%  
 
decreasing on a sliding 
scale plus bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier 
 
 
0% but bill calculated 
using small business rate 
multiplier 

Page 68Agenda Item 8



  
  

 APPENDIX B 
 

SD (IS) 

 
PROPERTY ELIGIBLE 

FOR RATE RELIEF 

 
TYPE OF 
RELIEF 

 
AMOUNT 

OF RELIEF 

 
Any other business 
premises 

 
Discretionary  

 
Up to 100% provided the 

award is considered 
reasonable having regard 
to the interests of council 

tax payers 
 

 

Page 69 Agenda Item 8



  
  

 APPENDIX B 
 

SD (IS) 

RURAL RATE RELIEF 
 

Designated Rural Areas/Rural Settlements 
 
Bean 

/Bean 
 
Darenth 

/Darenth 
 /Green Street Green 
 /Lane End 
 
Longfield 

/Longfield 
 /Longfield Hill 
 
Southfleet 

/Betsham 
 /Southfleet including Red Street Manor Farm 
 /Westwood 
 
Sutton-at-Hone & Hawley 

/Hawley 
 /Keith Avenue (Old Rectory Estate) 
 /Royal Road 

/Kings Georges Playing Field, 
 /Hawley Road 
 /Sutton-at-Hone 
 
Wilmington 

/Heathside 
 /Oakfield Lane, Parsons Lane 
 /Wilmington 
 

Page 70Agenda Item 8



 
 

APPENDIX C 

SD (IS) 

 
Criteria for Granting Discretionary Rate Relief 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1.  Education Establishments 
 
1.1 Schools which are registered as 

Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity. 

 
1.2 Schools which are registered as 

Charitable Institutions and occupied by 
that charity, and are for children with 
special needs. 

 

 
Eligible for 

80% 
Mandatory 

Relief 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

 
Level of 

Discretionary 
Relief to be 

Granted 
 
 
 

None 
 
 
 
 

20% 
 

2. Scout & Guide Organisations 
 

Groups which are registered as Charitable 
Institutions and occupied by that charity. 
 

 
 
 

Yes 

 
 
 

20% 

3. Charity Shops 
 

Organisations which are registered as 
Charitable Institutions and occupied by that 
charity. 
 

 
 
 

Yes 

 
 
 

None 

4. Philanthropic Groups 
 
4.1 Groups which are registered as 

Charitable Institutions which provide 
services to the Local Community e.g. 
RSPCA, Salvation Army, Red Cross. 

 
4.2 Groups which are registered as 

Charitable Institutions which do not 
provide widely available services to the 
Local Community. 

 
4.3 Groups which are not registered as 

Charitable Organisations but provide 
services to the Local Community. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

No 
 
 
 

 
 
 

20% 
 
 
 
 

None 
 
 
 
 

40% 
 
 

 

Page 71 Agenda Item 8



 
 

APPENDIX C 

SD (IS) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Sports Clubs 
 
5.1 Clubs where Membership is closed e.g. 

to employees of a certain Company. 
 
5.2 Clubs where Membership is restricted by 

the level of fees or subscription. 
 
5.3 Clubs which are not conducted for profit 

and have open access/Membership. 
 
5.4 Clubs that are charities and have 

open access/Membership regardless 
of levels of skills viz:- 
 

 The promotion of community 
participation in healthy recreation 
by the provision of facilities for the 
playing of particular sports; and 

 

 The advancement of the physical 
education of young  
people not undergoing formal 
education. 

 
N.B.   The sport concerned must be one 
that is capable of improving health or 
fitness. 

 

 
Eligible for 

80% 
Mandatory 

Relief 
 
 

 
No 

 
 

No 
 
 

No 
 
 
 

Yes 

 
Level of 

Discretionary 
Relief to be 

Granted 
 
 

 
None 

 
 

None 
 
 

40% 
 
 
 

None 

6. Social/Welfare Clubs 
 
6.1 Village Halls/Community Centres which 

are registered as Charitable Institutions 
which are not conducted for profit. 

 
6.2 Village Halls which are not registered as 

Charitable Institutions which are not 
conducted for profit. 

 
6.3 Welfare organisations which are 

registered as Charitable Institutions. 
 
6.4 Social Clubs which are registered as 

Charitable Institutions. 

 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

No 
 
 

Yes 
 
 

Yes 
 

  
 

20% 
 
 
 
 

100% 
 
 

None 
 
 

None 
 

Page 72Agenda Item 8



 
 

APPENDIX C 

SD (IS) 

 
6.5 Social or Welfare Clubs which are not 

registered as Charitable Organisations 
which are not conducted for profit and 
which are for public benefit. 

 
 

 
 

No 

 
 

40% 

 
 
 
 
7. Village Shops 
 
7.1 The only Post Office having a rateable 

value of £8,500 or less in a qualifying 
rural settlement comprising less than 
3,000 people. 

 
7.2 The only General Store (if such a trade is 

not carried on in any other hereditament 
or part of a hereditament), having a 
rateable value of £8,500 or less in a 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people in a rural settlement. 

 
7.3 A business having a rateable value of 

£16,500 or less in a settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people in a 
rural area; which is the only business in a 
settlement, provides some or all of the 
services of a Post Office or General 
Store and is essential to the community. 

 
7.4 The only Public House or Petrol Filling  

Station having a rateable value of 
£12,500 or less in a rural settlement 
comprising less than 3,000 people. 
 

7.5 A store, (having a rateable value of 
£8,500 or less in a qualifying rural 
settlement comprising less than 3,000 
people) which is wholly or mainly 
involved in the retail sale of food for 
human consumption.  This would exclude 
confectionery and 

 
(a) any supply of food for 

consumption on the 
premises on which it is 
supplied: and 

Eligible for 
50% 

Mandatory 
Relief 

 
 

Yes 
 

 
 

 
Yes 

 
 
 
 
 
 

No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

Level of 
Discretionary 
Relief to be 

Granted 
 
 

50% 
 
 

 
 

50% 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Up to 100% 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

50% 
 
 
 
 

50% 

Page 73 Agenda Item 8



 
 

APPENDIX C 

SD (IS) 

 
(b) any supply of hot food for 

consumption off those 
premises; 
 

and for the purposes of the paragraph  
above hot food” means food which, or 
any part of which has been heated for 
the purposes of enabling it to be 
consumed at a temperature above the 
ambient air temperature; 
 

  

 

 

Page 74Agenda Item 8



CABINET 
28 January 2021 

 

PLANNING SERVICES SUB DELEGATIONS  
 

 
1. Summary 

 
1.1 To seek authority to delegate to Officers, the functions related to Neighbourhood 

Plans and the deferrals of CIL payment requests, for the reasons outlined in the 
body of the report. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1  That, authority be delegated to Officers to undertake the Neighbourhood Plan 
functions and the deferral of CIL payments, as detailed in the Planning Services 
Sub delegations, at Appendix A to the report. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Scheme of Delegations provides for the delegation, by the GAC and 

Cabinet of their respective functions. The Scheme also provides 
authority to Officers to manage the administrative aspects of the 
Council’s work. The Scheme was adopted with the intention that there 
should be a streamlining and simplification of the decision-making 
process.  

 
3.2. All delegated powers are exercised in accordance with Council policies, 

within any financial limits imposed and within any guidelines prescribed 
by the GAC or Cabinet. All delegations are without prejudice to the 
overriding rights and powers of the GAC and the Cabinet to exercise 
those functions delegated to Officers. 
 

3.3. Decisions about policy directions remain reserved to the GAC and 
Cabinet, as appropriate, unless specifically delegated to Officers on an 
issue-by-issue basis.  
 

3.4. Planning legislation changes regularly and the Planning Services Sub-
Delegations have to be updated to respond to these. However, 
sometimes the need to amend the delegations does not become 
apparent until a specific matter arises. The Council has now received its 
first submission of a Neighbourhood Plan and is required to take this 
forward in accordance with the relevant legislation. 
 

Neighbourhood Plans 

3.5. Under the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 (as amended), the default position is that every 
function of the local authority is an executive function unless it is one of 
a number of exceptions set out in legislation. 

Page 75 Agenda Item 9



CABINET 
28 January 2021 

 
3.6. The local authority’s powers for neighbourhood planning are set out in 

the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and section 
61(G)(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
(executive functions under the default position referred to above).  

3.7. The current Planning Services Sub-delegations allow only for officers to 
respond to Parish Councils on consultations with regard to the 
consultation draft and publication of the Parish Council’s Neighbourhood 
Plan. However, the legislation requires that there are a number of formal 
stages to be actioned by the Council, within set timescales.  

3.8. On reviewing the details of the legislation, there is very little ability for the 
Council to exercise any level of discretion, as the Council’s role is to 
ensure that the Neighbourhood Plan follows the correct legal processes. 
A summary of the Neighbourhood Plan stages is attached at Appendix 
B to the report. 

3.9. Delegated authority is required for those parts of the process set out in 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, specifically, 
regulations 5A, 6, 7, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19, and section 61(G)(1) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as set out in Appendix A to 
the report. 
 

3.10. Following examination and the Inspector’s report, if the Neighbourhood 
Plan meets the required tests, then a public referendum must be held. 
Following the referendum, the matter will be referred to Cabinet to decide 
whether to make or refuse the Neighbourhood Development Plan. 
However, it should be noted that where a referendum results in a 
majority Yes vote (i.e. over 50% plus 1), the Council must make the 
Neighbourhood Plan as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
referendum is held  and in any event, within 8 weeks of the referendum 
(section 38A(4) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004), unless a 
legal challenge has been brought in relation to the decision to hold a 
referendum or around the conduct of the referendum or the Plan is 
considered incompatible with any retained EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). 

Deferral of CIL payments 

3.11. In order to ease the financial burden on small and medium size 
developers as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic, the Government 
has amended the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 to 
provide some flexibility for local authorities, exercising their discretion, 
to defer the payment of CIL for a limited period, being no more than 6 
months after the receipt of the request. Due to the timescales involved 
in making the decision to grant or refuse a request to defer, delegated 
authority is sought under s72A of the 2010 Regulations, for officers to 
take the decision. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not Applicable 
  

Page 76Agenda Item 9



CABINET 
28 January 2021 

 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 

Financial Implications Potential deferral of payment CIL liability notices 
for 6 months for small and medium sized 
developments.  

Legal Implications 

  

Section 9E(3) of the Local Government Act 2000 
provides that Cabinet may arrange for the 
discharge of its functions by Officers. 

 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative 
Implications 

None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Planning Services Sub Delegations 
Appendix B - Summary of Neighbourhood Plan Stages 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Planning Services sub-
delegations 
 

January 
2020 

Sonia Collins 
(01322) 343620 

Planning 
Services 
External 
Services 

N/A 

 
 
 

Page 77 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

Appendix A 

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (EXTERNAL SERVICES) 
 

HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES 

 
P L A N N I N G S E R V I C E S 

 

 

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ACT 2003 (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer 

Assistant Enforcement Officer 

 

authorised as follows: 

 
Sections 69 and 70 – In consultation with Legal Services to issue, vary or withdraw a Remedial Notice, provided that the issue of a notice is reported to 
the Development Control Board. 

 

In consultation with ward Councillors, to decline to issue a Remedial Notice, where a hedge does not warrant action under the 2003 Act. 

 

Section 71 - To contest appeals against remedial notices and to decide accordingly. 

Section 74 – Rights of Entry – The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager 
Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 
Planning Enforcement Officer

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ACT 2003 (Cont’d)(C) 

 

Assistant Enforcement Officer 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 

Heritage, Events and Projects Manager 

Principal Transport Planner 

 

authorised to enter upon land for purposes of administration of the functions of the Council in relation to the 2003 Act. 
 
 

CHANNEL TUNNEL RAIL LINK ACT 1996 (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

authorised to determine submissions for minor infrastructure, works, or revisions to works already approved pursuant to the 1996 Act, whether or not 

any representations have been lodged/received. 

 

 

CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES (E) 

Disclosure Statements 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

 

Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager  
Planning Policy Manager 

 

authorised to make the appropriate signed certifications in accordance with the procedures for disclosure of documents.

P
age 80

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

 

COMMUNICATIONS ACT 2003 (E) 

Sections 45 to 49 - The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

authorised, subject to public consultation, to issue decisions following requests to remove public pay phones. 
 

 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY REGULATIONS 2010 (as amended) (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager 
Planning Policy Manager 

authorised as follows: 

Regulation 36(2) and (4) - to determine that CIL liability is transferred from the person(s) assuming liability to the owners of the land and to issue 

default of liability notice. 
 

Regulation 47 (4) - to substitute the Council’s apportionment assessment in place of the applicants when dealing with claims for charitable relief. 

 
Regulation 54A (10) - to determine that grant of relief should not be fully or partially granted due to the relief constituting European State Aid in the 
case of claims for exemption for self- build housing. 

 
Regulation 69A (3) - to declare that a person is not required to pay their CIL liability until works are commenced on land in which they have material 
interest. 

 
Regulation 19A (8), 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86 - to determine whether a surcharge may be imposed on a liable party(ies). 

 
Regulation 72A – to consider a request to defer payment of a CIL amount for reasons connected to the effects of coronavirus and to either grant or refuse the 

request, applying the  reg.72A provisions. 
 
Regulation 90 (2) and 91 - to issue or withdraw a CIL stop notice.

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

  

 

 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY REGULATIONS 2010 (as amended) (E) 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 
 

Head of Planning Services  
Development Manager  
Planning Policy Manager 
Senior Infrastructure Planner   
Senior Policy Planner 
Head of Finance 

 
authorised as follows: 

 
Regulation 75 - to repay an overpayment of CIL by a liable party(ies). 

 
Regulation 93 and 94 - to determine if a person should be charged with an offence due to contravention of a CIL stop notice or to apply for a court 
restraint injunction. 

 
Regulation 97 and 98 (1) - to apply to a Magistrates' Court for a liability order against a person(s) who are liable to pay CIL and to authorise to levy the 
charge by distress and sale of goods of the debtor. 

 
Regulation 99 - to act on behalf of the Council with regard to appeals in connection with distress. 

 
Regulation 100 - to apply to a Magistrates' Court for the issue of warrant committing a debtor to prison where full recovery has not been achieved 
through distress or through a charging order. 

 
Regulation 103 and 104 (4) - to apply to court for a charging order to impose a charge on asset(s) held by the debtor, and to discharge or vary the 
order at a later stage. 

 
Regulation 106. -to apply for recovery of unpaid CIL liability in a court of competent justice. 

 
Regulation 107 (4) and (6) - to apply to a county court to enforce a local land charge where CIL due is £2000 or more. 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer 

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

 

 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY REGULATIONS 2010 (as amended) (E) 

 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Senior Infrastructure Planner 

Assistant Planner 

 

authorised pursuant to Regulation 109, to enter relevant land to determine whether chargeable development has commenced, to ascertain compliance 

with requirements imposed as of a result of further action taken by the Council, to display a notice on the land, or to determine the chargeable amount 

where a notice of chargeable development has been submitted. 

 
Write off of CIL Liability - the Strategic Director (External Services) authorised to write off CIL liability where a CIL exemption would ordinarily apply. 

 
 
CONSERVATION OF HABITATS AND SPECIES REGULATIONS 2010 (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner (Major Projects) 

 

authorised to determine the need for an Appropriate Assessment where the proposal has the potential to have an effect on a European site or a European 

offshore marine site. 

 
  

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

 

HEDGEROW REGULATIONS 1997 (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

Principal Planner 

 
authorised to serve Notices in response to Hedgerow Removal Notices. 
 

Rights of Entry – The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 

Heritage, Events and Projects Manager 

Principal Transport Planner 

Tree Consultant 
 

authorised to enter land for surveying hedgerow(s) in connection with a Removal Notice(s) received by the Council in accordance with Regulations 12, 
13 and 14. 

 

 

  

P
age 84

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
December 2020 

 

 

LAND COMPENSATION ACT 1961 (E) 

Section 17 – The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

authorised to determine applications for certificates of appropriate alternative development. 
 
 

LICENSING ACT 2003 (C) 

Local Authority Consultee The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer  

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 
 

authorised to object when the Council is a consultee and not the lead authority. 
 

 

LOCALISM ACT 2011 (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Planning Policy Manager 

 

authorised to agree Local Plan formal strategic agreements for the purposes of the Duty to Co-operate (including Statements of Common Ground and 

Memoranda of Understanding) with Officers of other local planning authorities or applicable public bodies.  Where these involve agreement to assist with 

meeting housing need of another authority or agreement to the preparation of a joint statutory Local Plan, this delegation will be exercised in consultation 

with the Strategic Director (External Services), Cabinet Chairman and Chairman of the Local Plan Members’ Working Group.

P
age 85

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING (GENERAL) REGULATIONS 2012 (E) 

 

The Head of Planning Services authorised: 

 

Regulation 5A – where a Parish Council seeks designation of the entirety of its area as the neighbourhood area, to designate the specified area (even if 

there is already a designated neighbourhood area within the area proposed)1; 

Regulation 6 – to publicise the plan proposal application; 

Regulation 7 – to publicise the designation or refusal to designate the plan proposal;  

Regulation 14- to provide formal technical support and advice on emerging plan proposals in line with the legislation and practice guidance and submit 

representations on behalf of the Council; 

Regulation 15- to determine whether the appropriate legal requirements (outlined in Regulation 15) have been met in relation to the plan proposal before 

publicising the plan proposal and arranging an independent examination; 

Regulation 16 – to publicise the plan proposal; 

Regulation 17- to identify and appoint an appropriate person to examine the plan proposal and to submit the plan to the examiner (the appointment must 

be made in conjunction with the Qualifying Body who submitted the plan proposal (pursuant to paragraph 7 of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by 

section 38A of the 2004 Act)2. 

 

Regulation 18(1): The Head of Planning Services in consultation with the Cabinet and Development Control Board Chairmen:  

 

(a) to decline to consider a plan proposal under paragraph 5 of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by section 38A of the 2004 Act); 

(b) to determine whether to refuse a plan proposal under paragraph 6 of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by section 38A of the 2004 Act); 

(c) to determine what action to take in response to the recommendation(s) of the examiner made in a report under paragraph 10 of Schedule 4B to the 

1990 Act (as applied by section 38A of the 2004 Act); 

(d) to determine what modifications, if any, to make to the plan proposal under paragraph 12(6) of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by section 38A 

of the 2004 Act). 

(e) to determine whether the plan proposal should go to public referendum, including making any modifications to the plan proposal to go forward to 

referendum;  

(f) to refuse the plan proposal where dissatisfied with the plan proposal under paragraph 12(10) of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (as applied by section 38A 

of the 2004 Act). 

 

The Head of Planning Services to determine whether to extend the area to which the referendum is (or referendums are) to take place, under notification to 

the Returning Officer. 

 

Regulation 18(2) -The Head of Planning Services authorised to publish the decisions taken under Regulation 18(1)(a) to (f) above, including the examiner’s 

report. 

  

                                                           
1 The Council’s discretion is removed and it must designate the specified area 
2 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

P
age 86

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING (GENERAL) REGULATIONS 2012 (as amended) (E) Cont’d 

 

Regulation 19 – The Head of Planning Services authorised to publish a decision statement to make a neighbourhood development plan under section 

38A(4) of the 2004 Act or to refuse to make a plan under section 38A(6) of the 2004 Act. 

 

NB: Following a referendum, Cabinet will decide whether to make or refuse to make the Neighbourhood Development Plan.   

 

PLANNING ACT 2008 (E) 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING (BUSINESS OR COMMERCIAL PROJECT) REGULATIONS 2013 (E) 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2017 (E) 

 

National Strategic Infrastructure Projects 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 
1. Authorised to comment on Statements of Community Consultations. 

 
2. NSIPs outside the Borough - Authorised to respond to consultations, to issue responses to Preliminary Environmental Impact Reports, make 

representations on projects, negotiate development consent orders and s106 agreements; agree Statements of Common Ground; prepare and submit 
Local Impact Reports either individually or in conjunction with other authorities; respond to queries from the Planning Inspectorate and participate  in the 
examination process;, generally deal with any other matters in connection with NSIPs where the development is  outside of the Borough and there is 
no significant strategic impact, or where the majority of the proposal is outside of the Borough and there is no significant strategic impact. 

 
 

3.  Borough-wide -  Authorised to respond to consultations, to issue responses to Preliminary Environmental Impact Reports, make representations, on 
projects which are in the Borough, or wholly/partially outside the Borough and where they may have a significant strategic impact, negotiate development 
consent orders and s106 agreements, agree Statements of Common Ground, submit and discuss Local Impact Reports, respond as part of the 
examination process, respond to the Planning Inspectorate and generally to deal with any other matters in connections with NSIPs where the responses 
are in accordance with the principles of the resolutions made by both Cabinet and Development Control Board relating to that Project or, where this 
is not possible, to respond in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman and the Board Chairman. 

  

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

PLANNING ACT 2008 (E) 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING (BUSINESS OR COMMERCIAL PROJECT) REGULATIONS 2013 (E) 
INFRASTRUCTURE PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2017 (E) 

 
 
NB: Consultations on developments in the Borough that seek the views of the Council will be determined by the Development Control Board or Cabinet 
as appropriate where time allows or should any Member so request. Where time is of the essence, matters in relation to the submission of 
representations, the final Local Impact Report, and the final heads of terms for the s106 will be in consultation with the Strategic Director (External 
Services) and Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman of the Development Control Board and subject to the Strategic Director (External Services), 
Chairman and at least one Member consultee agreeing to the proposed Officer recommendation. 

 
4. Authorised to issue opinions and responses to the need for and scope of an Environmental Impact Assessment under the Regulations; to issue 

opinions as to the content of Environmental Statements. 

 

 

PLANNING (HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES) ACT 1990 (C) & (E) 

THE PLANNING (HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES) REGULATIONS 2015 (E) 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:  
Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager 
Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

authorised to determine applications for Hazardous Substances Consent and to revoke Consents, whether or not representations have been received. 
 

NB: Sections 9(1) & 10 – (C) - Council function 

Rights of Entry –The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

PLANNING (HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES) ACT 1990 (E) (Cont’d) 

THE PLANNING (HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES) REGULATIONS 2015 (E) 

 

Heritage, Events and Projects Manager 

Principal Transport Planner 

authorised to: 

Section 36 enter any land in connection with an application for consent, or a proposal to issue a Hazardous Substances Contravention Notice. 

Section 36A enter land under Warrant when entry to land has been refused, or refusal is likely, or the case is one of urgency. 

Section 36B enter land and take such other persons as may be necessary 

 

 

PLANNING (LISTED BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION AREAS) ACT 1990 (C) & (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

 

Section 3* Authorised to serve a Building Preservation Notice. 

Section 9 In consultation with Legal Services, authorised to initiate legal proceedings for offence of unauthorised execution of works. 

Sections 38* & 39 Authorised to issue Listed Building Enforcement Notices and deal with related appeals. 

Section 43 Authorised to prosecute for a failure to comply with a Listed Building Enforcement Notice.  

Section 48* Authorised to issue a Repairs Notice. 

Section 54* Authorised to issue an urgent Repairs Notice. 

Section 88 Authorised to issue 24 hours' notice of intended entry and to enter land for the purposes of administration of the functions of the Council in 
relation to the provisions of the Act. 

 

*Council function 
  

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

PLANNING (LISTED BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION AREAS) ACT 1990 (C)& (E) (Cont’d) 

Rights of Entry –The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 
Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 

Heritage, Events and Projects Manager 

Principal Transport Planner 

 

authorised to enter upon land for purposes of administration of the functions the Council in relation to listed buildings and conservation areas related 

issues. 

 

ROAD TRAFFIC REGULATION ACT 1984 (E) 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:  
 
Head of Planning Services  
Principal Transport Planner 
Transport Engineer 

 

in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Parking Management and on behalf of Kent County Council as the local traffic authority and in 

exercise of its powers under Sections 1, 2, 32, 35, 36, 45, 46, 47, 49, 53, 124 and Part IV of Schedule 9 to the Road Traffic Regulation Act 

1984, authorised to progress Traffic Regulation Orders for minor schemes with the following conditions: 

 
• For minor amendments to existing waiting and loading restrictions no longer that 20 metres or yellow lines for corner protection. 
• Subject to no objections after consulting Kent County Council and Dartford Borough Council’s Parking Services Team.  
• Subject to the standard statutory consultation process. 
 

  

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2011(E) 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 2017 (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

 

authorised to establish the need or otherwise for an Environmental Impact Assessment under the Regulations and to issue opinions as to the content of 

Environmental Statements. 
 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

 

authorised in consultation with Legal Services, to institute legal proceedings for offences under the 1990 Act. 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

authorised: 

Section 61(G)(1) – on the application of a Parish Council, to designate or refuse to designate a neighbourhood area – (but see Reg 5A - Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 above).  

Section 70A – to decline to determine an application for planning permission. 

Section 70C – to decline to determine retrospective planning applications, which would involve granting planning permission for anything, specified in an 

enforcement notice. 

 

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (C) (Cont’d) 

 

Council development proposals -  The Development Control Board will normally be the appropriate forum for determining the Council's major development 

proposals with minor proposals being dealt with by Officers under delegated powers (for further guidance –see the Probity in Planning Protocol). 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 
 
Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 
Principal Planner 
 
authorised as follows: 
 
Section 106 and Unilateral Undertakings 

 

(a)  In consultation with Head of Legal Services, to enter into agreements and to accept Unilateral Undertakings under Section 106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990, in connection with an application, which may be determined under, delegated powers. 
 

(b)  Officer Delegated Section 106s -  Subject to (c) below, in consultation with Legal Services, to approve or refuse variations to existing 

agreements, revised Unilateral Undertakings and applications to vary existing agreements under Section 106A of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, in connection with an application which was originally determined under delegated powers and where there are no more than two 

objections from the public in response to the proposed variation. 
 

(c)  D e v e l o p m e n t  C o n t r o l  B o a r d  r e c o m m e n d e d  S e c t i o n  1 0 6 s  - In consultation with Legal Services and the Chairman, Vice-

Chairman and Shadow Chairman of the Development Control Board and subject to the Chairman and at least one Member consultee agreeing 

to the proposed Officer recommendation, to approve or refuse variations to existing agreements, revised Unilateral Undertakings and applications 

to vary existing agreements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in connection with an application which was originally 

determined by Development Control Board and where there are no more than two objections from the public in response to the proposed variation. 
 

(d)  In consultation with Legal Services and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman of the Development Control Board, to accept 
Unilateral Undertakings under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in connection with an application which was originally 
determined by Development Control Board and which is the subject of an appeal to PINS. 

 

(e)  To evaluate and negotiate with applicants on submissions (e.g. landscape management plan) presented under the terms of an existing Section 

106 Agreement and to accept or reject submissions. 
 

(f)   In consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Board, to conclude Section 106 Agreements outside any time limit that may be 

specified by the Board in the original resolution. 

 

  

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (Cont’d) (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

authorised as follows: 

Section 171C                  To serve Planning Contravention Notices on owners/occupiers for information relating to land. 
Section 171E                  To serve, vary or withdraw a Temporary Stop Notice.. 
Section 171BA               In consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to seek a Planning Enforcement Order in the Magistrates Court and to serve 

any order on any relevant person. 
Section 171BB               In consultation with Head of Legal Services, to issue a certificate and serve notice on any relevant person of any application to 

the Magistrates’ Court. 
Section 172                    To issue, vary or withdraw an Enforcement Notice. 
Section 172A                  To issue, vary or withdraw a letter of assurance as regards prosecutions for persons issued with an Enforcement Notice. 
Section 173A                  To vary or withdraw a Notice issued under Section 172. 
Section 174                    To deal with an appeal against an Enforcement Notice issued under Section 172. 
Section 178                    To undertake Direct Action with respect of a failure to comply with a Notice under Section 172. 
Section 183                    To serve, vary or withdraw a Stop Notice. 

Section 187A                  To issue, vary or withdraw a Breach of Condition Notice. 

Section 187B                  In consultation with Legal Services, to seek injunctive relief in the courts, and to pursue contempt proceedings for non- 

compliance with same. 

Section 215                    To issue a Notice under Section 215 to ensure the proper maintenance of open land and buildings. 

Section 219                    To undertake Direct Action with respect of a failure to comply with a Notice under Section 215. 

Section 225                   To remove or obliterate any placard or poster displayed illegally or to remove any structure used for unauthorised display of 

advertisements or to remedy any defacement of premises in the Borough provided that written notice has been given to anyone 

who can be identified as the person responsible for the display. 

Section 330                    To serve Requisitions for Information in connection with enforcement action and general planning matters. 
 
  

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (Cont’d) (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner  

authorised as follows: 

Sections 93B & 93F – To grant or refuse additional environmental approval with regard to extensions of permissions. 

Section 191(4) - To issue Certificate of Lawfulness of Existing Use or Development (where there is an element of judgement as to the weight to be given 

to evidence relating to uses, the application will be determined by the Development Control Board should any Member so request). 

Section 192(2) - To issue Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Use or Development. 

Section 193(7) - In consultation with Legal Services, to revoke Certificates. 
Section 198 - To make and publicise Tree Preservation Orders made and to confirm unopposed Orders. 

 

Rights of Entry –The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Principal Enforcement Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 

Heritage, Events and Projects Manager 

Principal Transport Planner 

Tree Consultant 
  

P
age 94

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (Cont’d) (C) 

 

authorised to enter upon land for purposes of administration of the planning functions of the Council in relation to the following Sections of the Act and 

authorised as follows: 

 
Section 196A                  To enter without warrant. 

Section 196B                  To enter under warrant. 

Section 214B                  To enter without a warrant onto land in connection with tree preservation functions. 

Section 214C                  To enter under warrant onto land in connection with tree preservation functions. 

Section 214D                  To take samples from any tree and samples of soil in connection with tree preservation functions. 

Section 325** -                Notice of Intended Entry - authorised to issue 24 hours’ notice of intended entry. 
 
**Cabinet function 
 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 
Development Manager 

 
Section 288** - Statutory Review - In consultation with Legal Services to challenge the determination of a planning appeal, including making an application 

to the Court of Appeal. 
 

**Cabinet function 

 
Determination of Applications for Planning Permission and Other Applications 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 
(a) authorised to approve, with or without conditions, applications falling within the categories mentioned in (i)-vi) below, except and provided that where 

more than five written objections raising material planning considerations are received to an application which is recommended for approval, 
the application be referred to the Development Control Board and provided also that such delegated decision is in accordance with the Development 
Plan and other relevant planning policies: 

 
(b) authorised to refuse applications falling within the categories mentioned  in(i)-(vi) below, except and provided that where more than f i ve  

written expressions of support raising material planning considerations is received to an application which is recommended for refusal, the 
application be referred to the Development Control Board: 

P
age 95

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (Cont’d) (C)  

 
(i) Full or outline planning applications; 
(ii) Applications for reserved matters or discharge of planning conditions; 
(iii) Applications for the felling, lopping, topping, etc., of trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area; 
(iv) Applications for Listed Building Consent; 
(v) Applications to vary or remove conditions attached to any previous permission or consent, in consultation with the Chairman of the Development     

    Control Board if the permission was originally determined by the Board; 
(vi) Applications for non-material amendments to existing planning permissions, in consultation with the Chairman of the Development Control Board if the 

   permission was originally determined by the Board.  

 

For the avoidance of doubt: 
 

(a)  a petition, or a written representation with multiple signatories from one property or several written representations from the same property will 
be treated as a single representation for the purposes of this delegation; 

(b)  any application by or on behalf of an officer or Member will be reported to the Development Control Board for determination; 
(c)  an application will be reported to the Development Control Board for determination where a Member makes a written request to that effect.  

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 
authorised to determine detailed submissions and applications to vary or remove conditions in respect of large scale major developments (as defined for 

the purposes of Government statistical returns) following the grant of an outline planning permission by the Development Control Board in consultation 

with the Chairman, Vice Chairman and Shadow Chairman of the Board, whether or not representations have been received.  Such applications will be 

determined by the Board should any Member so request in writing. 

 
Consultations 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 
 

 

P
age 96

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (as amended) (Cont’d) (C) 
 

(a) Authorised to respond to consultations undertaken by Kent County Council in respect of their proposals to carry out development or on 

applications, which fall to them to be determined.  Such applications will be determined by the Development Control Board should any Member 

so request.* 

(b)   Authorised to respond to consultations from neighbouring authorities or the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation inviting comment on proposed 

development in its area. 

(c) *Authorised to respond to consultation papers from the government and outside agencies where the subject matter relates to the terms of reference 

of the Development Control Board. 

(d) Authorised to respond to planning policy and related environmental/ infrastructure consultations from other Local Planning Authorities, County 

Councils, Parish Councils and national government/agencies; other than for the National Planning Policy Framework, or the statutory 

consultation final draft/publication stage of a Local Plan/Neighbourhood Development Plan/Minerals or Waste Plan. 

 
* Council function 

 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (CONTROL OF ADVERTISEMENTS) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2007 (E) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

1. Authorised to grant or refuse express consent for illuminated signs and non-illuminated signs. Such applications will be determined by the 

Development Control Board should any Member so request in writing. 

 

2. Authorised to take discontinuance action and to revoke or modify express consent. 

 

3. Authorised in consultation with Legal Services, to institute legal proceedings for offences under the Regulations. 
 

  

P
age 97

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT (TREE PRESERVATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

authorised: 

(1) To make Tree Preservation Orders in accordance with Part 2 of the Regulations. 
 

(2) To confirm unopposed Tree Preservation Orders made under Part 2 of the Regulations. 
 

(3) To vary or revoke existing Tree Preservation Orders provided no objections have been received to the proposed course of action. 
 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) (ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 (as amended)(C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

(1) Authorised to serve notices under Article 3. 

(2) Authorised to deal with "prior approval cases" submitted in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Order. 

 

NB: Where applications under any Part of Schedule 2 attract more than five objections, and Officers are minded to recommend that prior approval is 

required and should be granted, this delegation shall be exercised in consultation with the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Shadow Chairman of the 

Development Control Board and subject to the Chairman and at least one Member consultee agreeing to the proposed Officer recommendation. 

 
  

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) (ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 (as amended)(C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Assistant Planner 
 

authorised to establish appropriate procedures required in order to ensure the efficient processing of planning applications, including agreeing with the 

applicant extensions of time for the determination of planning applications. 

 
 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE) (AMENDMENT) ORDER 2017 (C) 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

 

1. Authorised to grant or refuse Permission in Principle for development, which has been submitted in accordance with the Order. 

2. Authorised to grant or refuse non-material amendments changes to Permission in Principle 
 
 

  

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

 

MISCELLANEOUS (C) 

Enforcement Action 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Principal Planning Officer 

Principal Enforcement Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

Planning Enforcement Officer  

 

in consultation with ward Councillors, authorised to decline to take enforcement action against identified breaches of planning control, where it is not 
considered expedient to do so and where the breach does not contravene Local Plan policy 
 
Appeals 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of:- 

 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Planning Policy Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 

Principal Planner 

Senior Planner 

Planner 

Policy Planner 

Assistant Planner 

Senior Policy Planner 

Senior Infrastructure Planner 
Principal Transport Planner 

Principal Planning Enforcement 

Officer 

Senior Planning Enforcement Officer 

 

1. authorised to contest appeals against any formal notices issued or any decision to refuse consent or permission to any application 
submitted for determination. 

 

2. authorised also to make or contest applications for an Award of Costs in respect of S78, 174 or 195 appeals lodged. 

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

 

MISCELLANEOUS (E) 

 

Local Plan and related documents (E) – The Head of Planning Services, Development Manager and Planning Policy Manager, authorised to waive fees 

for documents for external organisations including: consultants commissioned by or on behalf of the Council; partner organisations; the media; government 

departments and agencies; local authorities; parish councils; community, resident and interest groups; key commercial and property interests; service 

providers; educational establishments. 

 
Planning Performance Agreements 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of: 

Head of Planning Services 

Development Manager 

Major Projects Team Leader 
Principal Planner 
Senior Planner 

 

authorised to enter into agreements with applicants setting out the timescale for determining major applications. 

 

Independent Examinations 

 

The persons from time to time holding the posts of 

Head of Planning Services 

Planning Policy Manager 

Senior Policy Planner  

Senior Infrastructure Planner Policy Planner 

Principal Transport Planner 

 

authorised to represent the Council’s case in Examinations in Public of Dartford Local Plans, Dartford’s CIL Charging Schedule, other authorities Local 

and Minerals/Waste Plans, and Neighbourhood Development Plans. 

 

The persons from time to time holding the post of Head of Planning Services and Planning Policy Manager: 

 

(a) authorised to propose main modifications to proposed Local Plans or CIL Charging Schedule for Dartford following Publication and in the course 
of the examination, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External Services) and Leader of the Council. 

(b) authorised to agree minor modifications to proposed Local Plans or CIL Charging Schedule for Dartford following Publication and in the course 
of the examination. 

(c) authorised to issue opinions and responses to the need for and scope of an Environmental Impact Assessment under the Regulations; to issue 

opinions as to the content of Environmental Statements and to issue responses to Preliminary Environmental Impact Reports. 

 

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 9



Delegations/Planning Services Subdelegations 
January 2021 

 

 

 

GENERAL 

 

Byelaws 3- Regeneration Services’ Officers authorised to enforce the Byelaws of the Council. 

                                                           
3 Council function 

P
age 102

A
genda Item

 9



Appendix B: Summary of Neighbourhood Plan Stages 
- as set out in government’s Planning Practice Guidance at January 2021: 
 

A summary of the key stages in neighbourhood planning 

Step 1: Designating neighbourhood area and if appropriate neighbourhood 

forum 

 Relevant body (parish/town council, prospective neighbourhood forum or community 

organisation) submits an application to the local planning authority to designate a 

neighbourhood area 

 local planning authority publicises and consults on the area application for minimum 

6 weeks (except for where a local planning authority is required to designate the 

whole of a parish.) 

 local planning authority designates a neighbourhood area within the statutory 

timescales  

 In an area without a town or parish council a prospective neighbourhood forum 

submits an application to be the designated neighbourhood forum for a 

neighbourhood area 

 local planning authority publicises and consults on the forum application for 

minimum 6 weeks 

 local planning authority takes decision on whether to designate the neighbourhood 

forum 

Step 2: Preparing a draft neighbourhood plan or Order 

Qualifying body develops proposals (advised or assisted by the local planning authority) 

 gather baseline information and evidence 

 engage and consult those living and working in the neighbourhood area and those 

with an interest in or affected by the proposals (eg service providers) 

 talk to land owners and the development industry 

 identify and assess options 

 determine whether a plan or an Order is likely to have significant environmental 

effect 

 start to prepare proposals documents eg basic conditions statement 

Step 3: Pre-submission publicity and consultation 

The qualifying body: 

 publicises the draft plan or Order and invites representations 

 consults the consultation bodies as appropriate 

 sends a copy of the draft plan or Order to the local planning authority 

 where European Obligations apply, complies with relevant publicity and consultation 

requirements 

 considers consultation responses and amends plan/Order if appropriate 

 prepares consultation statement and other proposal documents 

Page 103 Agenda Item 9

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/20/contents/made


Step 4: Submission of a neighbourhood plan or Order proposal to the local 

planning authority 

 Qualifying body submits the plan or Order proposal to the local planning authority 

 Local planning authority checks that submitted proposal complies with all relevant 

legislation 

 If the local planning authority finds that the plan or order meets the legal requirements 

it:  

o publicises the proposal for minimum 6 weeks and invites representations 

o notifies consultation bodies referred to in the consultation statement 

o appoints an independent examiner (with the agreement of the qualifying body) 

Step 5: Independent Examination 

 local planning authority sends plan/Order proposal and representation to the 

independent examiner 

 independent examiner undertakes examination 

 independent examiner issues a report to the local planning authority and qualifying 

body 

 local planning authority publishes report 

 local planning authority considers report and reaches own view (except in respect of 

community right to build orders and proposals for modifications of neighbourhood 

plans where the modifications do not change the nature of the plan, where the report is 

binding) 

 local planning authority takes the decision on whether to send the plan/Order to 

referendum 

Steps 6 and 7: Referendum and bringing the neighbourhood plan or Order 

into force 

 relevant council publishes information statement 

 relevant council publishes notice of referendum/s 

 polling takes place (in a business area an additional referendum is held) 

 results declared 

 should more than half of those voting vote in favour of the neighbourhood plan, the 

plan comes into force as part of the statutory development plan for the area 

 should more than half of those voting vote in favour of the Order, the Order only has 

legal effect once it is made by the local planning authority 

 there are narrow circumstances where the local planning authority is not required to 

make the neighbourhood plan or Order. These are where it considers that the making 

of the neighbourhood plan or Order would breach, or otherwise be incompatible with, 

any EU or human rights obligations (see section 61E(8) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 Act as amended). 

 in respect of proposals for modifications of neighbourhood plans where the 

modifications do not change the nature of the plan and meet the basic conditions, a 

referendum is not required. The local planning authority is required to make the 

modified neighbourhood plan 

 

Page 104Agenda Item 9

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted


 

Page 105 Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021  

 

 
 

CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF 
THE COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 

 

 
1. Summary 
 

To seek Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 2021/22 
and the provisional calendar for 2022/23. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2021/22 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2022/23 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 A proposed calendar of meetings for the 2021/22 municipal year is 

attached at Appendix A and a provisional calendar of meetings for the 
2022/23 municipal year is proposed at Appendix B. 
 

3.2 The calendars have been prepared with a view to avoiding known 
party conference dates and school holidays as far as possible. The 
proposed start times for the meetings are indicative and may be 
subject to change in the early part of 2021/22, depending on the 
position with the current coronavirus emergency. The calendars will 
be presented to the next Annual Meeting of the Council. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

  
Not applicable 

 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications Setting out indicative 
calendars for the next 
two Municipal Years 
provides certainty for 
Members over 
proposed meeting 
dates to facilitate the 
conduct of business. 

Risk Assessment None 

Page 107 Agenda Item 10



 
CABINET 

28 JANUARY 2021 
 

  

 
 
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A - Proposed calendar of meetings for 2021/22 
Appendix B - Provisional calendar of meetings for 2022/23 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Documents 
consulted 

Date File Ref Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

   Alan Twyman 
(01322 343430) 

Democratic 
Services Manager/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 108Agenda Item 10



 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

Appendix A 
 

Indicative Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2021/22 
 

 
 
 COMMITTEE 
 

 
TIME 

 
USUAL MEETING DAY 

 
May 
2021 

 
Jun 
2021 

 
Jul 

2021 

 
Aug 
2021 

 
Sep 
2021 

 
Oct 

2021 

 
Nov 
2021 

 
Dec 
2021 

 
Jan 
2022 

 
Feb 
2022 

 
Mar 
2022 

 
Apr 
2022 

 
May 
2022 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
7pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 
27 

 
24 

 
22 

  
23 

 
28 

 
 

 
9 

 
27 

 
24 

 
24 

 
21 

 

 
Cabinet Advisory Panels 

 
7pm 
 

 
MONDAY 

 
24B 

 
21A 

 
19B 

  
20A 

 
25B 

 
 

 
6A 

 
24B 

 
21A 

 
21B 

 
19A 

(Tues) 

 

 
Scrutiny Committee  
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

   
13 

  
 

 
19 

 
 

  
18 

 
 

  
19 

 

 
Policy Overview Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

  
8 

   
14 

   
14 

   
15 

  

 
Strategic Housing Board 
 

 
2pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

   
14 

   
13 

   
28 

   
13 

 

 
Audit Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

  
21 

   
20 

   
26 

  
 

 
27 

 

 
Development Control Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 
20 

 
10 

 
15 

 
12 

 
16 

 
14 

 
11 

 
16 

 
20 

 
17 

 
17 

 
14 

 

 
Development Control Site Visits 

 
9.30am 

 
SATURDAY 

 
15 
 

 
5 

 
10 

 
7 

 
11 

 
9 

 
6 

 
11 

 
15 

 
12 

 
12 

 
9 

 

 
General Assembly of the Council 
 

 
7pm 

 
MONDAY 

  
 

 
26 

   
18 

  
13 

   
 

  

 
General Assembly of the Council 

(Budget) 
 

 
7pm 

 
MONDAY 

          
28 
 

 
 

  

 
Annual Meeting 
 

 
7 pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

 
12 

            
11 

 
 
 

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 10



 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 
 

 
COMMITTEE 

 
TIME 

 
USUAL MEETING DAY 

 

 
May 
2021 

 
Jun 
2021 

 
Jul 

2021 

 
Aug 
2021 

 
Sep 
2021 

 
Oct 

2021 

 
Nov 
2021 

 
Dec 
2021 

 
Jan 
2022 

 
Feb 
2022 

 
Mar 
2022 

 
Apr 
2022 

 
May 
2022 

 
Borough and Parish Council 
Forum 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

   
6 

   
12 

   
11 

   
5 

 
 

 
Joint Transportation Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

  
15 

   
7 

   
7 

   
8 

  

 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

   
28 

   

 

   
9 

 

 

 

 
Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

      
26  

    

 

 

 
Tenant & Leaseholder Joint 
Liaison Group 
 

 
2pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 

     
9 

      
10 

  

 
Bean Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Monday 

 
10 

 
14 

 
12 

  
13 

 
11 

 
8 

 
13 

 
10 

 
14 

 
14 

 
11 

 
9 

 
Darenth Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
19 

 
16 

 
21 

 
 

 
15 

 
20 

 
17 

 
15 

 
19 

 
16 

 
16 

 
20 

 
18 

Longfield and New Barn 
Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Tuesday 

 
25 

 
22 

 
27 

  
28 

 
26 

 
23 

 
21 

 
25 

 
22 

 
22 

 
26 

 
24 

 
Southfleet Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Monday 

 
3 

 
7 

 
5 

 
 

 
6 

 
4 

 
1 

 
6 

 
4 

(Tues) 

 
7 

 
7 

 
4 

 
     9  

 
Stone Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
12 

  
14 

  
8 

  
10 

  
12 

  
9 

  
11 

Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council 

 
Evening 

 
Thursday 

 
20 

 
17 

 
15 

  
16 

 
21 

 
15 

 
16 

 
20 

 
17 

 
17 

 
21 

 
19 

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council 

 
Evening 

 
 

             

 
Wilmington Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
5 

 
2 

 
7 

  
1 

 
6 

 
3 

 
1 

 
12 

 
2 

 
2 

 
6 

 
4 

 
Labour Party Conference              26-29 September 2021      Conservative Party Conference     October 2021                                 
Good Friday/Easter Monday  15& 18 April 2022 
Christmas/New Year Bank Holidays:  27,28 December 2021/ 3 January 2022  
 
The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings. 

P
age 110

A
genda Item

 10



 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

Appendix B 
 

Indicative Dates and Times of the GAC, Cabinet, Committees and Boards for 2022/23 
 

 
 
 COMMITTEE 
 

 
TIME 

 
USUAL MEETING DAY 

 
May 
2022 

 
Jun 
2022 

 
Jul 

2022 

 
Aug 
2022 

 
Sep 
2022 

 
Oct 

2022 

 
Nov 
2022 

 
Dec 
2022 

 
Jan 
2023 

 
Feb 
2023 

 
Mar 
2023 

 
Apr 
2023 

 
May 
2023 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
7pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 
26 

 
23 

 
21 

  
 22 

 
 27 

  
   8 

 
 26 

 
 23 

 
  23 

 
  20 

 
25 

 
Cabinet Advisory Panels 

 
7pm 
 

 
MONDAY 

 
23B 

 
20A 

 
18B 

  
19A 

 
24B 

 
 

 
5A 

 
23B 

 
20A 

 
20B 

 
17A 

 
22B 

 
Scrutiny Committee  
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

   
12 

  
13 

 
 

 
15 

   
14 

   

 
Policy Overview Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

  
14 

   
6 

   
13 

   
14 

  

 
Strategic Housing Board 
 

 
2pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

   
6 

   
12 

   
18 

   
5 

 

 
Audit Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

  
20 

   
19 

   
25 

  
22 

  

 
Development Control Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 
19 

 
16 

 
14 

 
11 

 
8 

 
13 

 
10 

 
15 

 
19 

 
16 

 
16 

 
13 

 
18 

 
Development Control Site Visits 

 
9.30am 

 
SATURDAY 

 
14 
 

 
11 

 
9 

 
6 

 
3 

 
8 

 
5 

 
10 

 
14 

 
11 

 
11 

 
8 

 
13 

 
General Assembly of the Council 
 

 
7pm 

 
MONDAY 

   
25 

   
10 

  
12 

     

 
General Assembly of the Council 

(Budget) 
 

 
7pm 

 
MONDAY 

   
 

       
 

27 

   

 
Annual Meeting 
 

 
7 pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

 
11 

            
24 

 
 
 

P
age 111

A
genda Item

 10



 

CABINET 
28 JANUARY 2021 

 
 
 

 
COMMITTEE 

 
TIME 

 
USUAL MEETING DAY 

 

 
May 
2022 

 
Jun 
2022 

 
Jul 

2022 

 
Aug 
2022 

 
Sep 
2022 

 
Oct 

2022 

 
Nov 
2022 

 
Dec 
2022 

 
Jan 
2023 

 
Feb 
2023 

 
Mar 
2023 

 
Apr 
2023 

 
May 
2023 

 
Borough and Parish Council 
Forum 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

   
5 

   
4 

   
17 

   
4 

 

 
Joint Transportation Board 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

  
7 

   
20 

   
6 

   
7 

  

 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
WEDNESDAY 

   
27 

   

 

   
8 

 

 

 

 
Deed, Trust and Obligations 
Committee 
 

 
7pm 

 
TUESDAY 

      
11  

    

 

 

 
Tenant & Leaseholder Joint 
Liaison Group 
 

 
2pm 

 
THURSDAY 

 

     
29 

      
9 

  

 
Bean Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Monday 

 
9 

 
13 

 
11 

  
12 

 
10 

 
14 

 
12 

 
9 

 
13 

 
13 

 
17 

 
8 

 
Darenth Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
18 

 
15 

 
20 

  
21 

 
19 

 
16 

 
21 

 
18 

 
15 

 
15 

 
19 

 
17 

Longfield and New Barn 
Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Tuesday 

 
24 

 
28 

 
26 

  
27 

 
25 

 
22 

  
24 

 
23 

 
23 

 
25 

 
23 

 
Southfleet Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Monday 

 
9 

 
6 

 
4 

  
5 

 
3 

 
7 

 
5 

  
6 

 
6 

 
3 

 
8 

 
Stone Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
11 

  
13 

  
14 

  
9 

  
11 

  
8 

  
10 

Sutton-At-Hone and Hawley Parish 
Council 

 
Evening 

 
Thursday 

 
19 

 
16 

 
21 

  
15 

 
20 

 
17 

 
15 

 
19 

 
16 

 
16 

 
20 

 
18 

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council 

 
Evening 

 
 

             

 
Wilmington Parish Council 

 
Evening 

 
Wednesday 

 
4 

 
1 

 
6 

  
7 

 
5 

 
2 

 
7 

 
11 

 
1 

 
1 

 
5 

 
3 

 
Labour Party Conference   - end September                 Conservative Party Conference  - 1st week October                                  
Good Friday/Easter Monday public holidays  - Friday 7and Monday 10 April 2023  
Christmas/New Year public holidays – Monday 26 and Tuesday 27 December 2022, & Monday 2 January 2023   
 
The dates quoted for Parish/Town Council meetings are provisional and may be changed at their associated Annual Meetings. 

P
age 112

A
genda Item

 10



 
CABINET 

28 January 2021 
 

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING 

 

1. Summary 

 
1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 

38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Strategic Director (Internal Services), in consultation with the Cabinet 
Chairman, relating to the approval of new road names for a development at 
the rear of 39 Brentfield Road and for the first phase of development in the 
Western Cross locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Strategic Director (Internal 

Services), in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 
38(2)(a), to approve new road names for a development at the rear of 39 
Brentfield Road and for the first phase of development in the Western Cross 
locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must be 
made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference. 

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services), as specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority 
and in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to the approval 
of new road names for a development at the rear of 39 Brentfield Road 
and for the first phase of development in the Western Cross locality of 
Ebbsfleet Valley. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable. 
 
 
 

Page 113 Agenda Item 11



 
CABINET 

28 January 2021 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A –  The report relating to the approval of new road names 
for a development at the rear of 39 Brentfield Road and 
for the first phase of development in the Western Cross 
locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted 
 
 
 

Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author 
 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
As detailed in 
paragraph 7 above 

 Alan Twyman 
Democratic 
Services 
Manager 
(01322) 343430 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 114Agenda Item 11



STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (INTERNAL SERVICES) 
14 December 2020 

 

 

APPENDIX A 
STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING – 
Site 1 – Rear of 39 Brentfield Road 
Site 2 – Phase 1 of the Western Cross locality in Ebbsfleet Valley 

 

Newtown and Ebbsfleet 
 
1.  Summary 

 
1.1 To approve a single new road name for a development at the rear of 39 

Brentfield Road. 
 

1.2 To approve ten new road names for the first phase of development in the 
Western Cross locality of Ebbsfleet Valley. 

 
2.  RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 That the single new road name for the development at the rear of 39 
Brentfield Road be approved as Marshall. 
 

2.2 That the ten new road names for the first phase of development in the 
Western Cross locality of Ebbsfleet Valley be approved as Allington, 
Brunton Bank, Cawdor, Cherry Hinton, Double Arches, Eastern, 
Ecclestone, Harpur Hill, Headington and Longhoughton. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1. The development at the rear of 39 Brentfield Road comprises six 

houses with an access road between 39 & 41 Brentfield Drive.  There 
were no spare house numbers available and as the properties are set 
back from the existing dwellings via a dropped kerb access way, a new 
road name is needed. 

3.1.1. Proposed road names were submitted for consultation, along with two 
others, to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail and the 
developer on 17th September 2020 along with a site plan, Appendix A.  
The name complies with the Council’s Policy on Street Naming. 

3.1.2. Eight consultees responded; Councillors Lloyd, Shippam, Brown, 
Oakley-Dowe, Mrs Allen & Mrs Thurlow along with Kent Police & Royal 
Mail with Marshall being the most popular choice. 

3.1.3. There were no other responses. 

3.2 This is the first phase of development in the Western Cross locality of 
Ebbsfleet Valley comprising of 281 properties.  The development will 
be accessed via a roundabout on St Clements Way by Bluewater. 

 
3.2.1 The proposed names were submitted for consultation on October 16th 

2020 to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail and the developer 

Page 115 Agenda Item 11



STRATEGIC DIRECTOR (INTERNAL SERVICES) 
14 December 2020 

 

 

along with a site plan, Appendix B.  The names comply with the 
Council’s Policy on Street Naming. 

 
3.2.2 Councillors Nicklen & Mrs Thurlow felt the names were fine and 

Councillor Lloyd had no objections in principle.  Royal Mail also had no 
objections to the names. 

 
3.2.3 There were no other responses. 

3.3. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been 
approved 

3.4. The developers requires the names as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

 Not applicable 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
 assessments 

 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer. 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
 Appendix A – Map of proposed site – Consult Plan Brentfield Road  
 Appendix B – Map of proposed site – Consult Plan Western Cross 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents  
Consulted 

Date /  
File Ref 

Report 
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance 

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood 

Property Information 
(Internal Services) 

N/A 

 

Page 116Agenda Item 11



2

9

1

5

8

6

7

A282

Bridge Court
Resource Centre

29

13

26

50

27

31

42

43

14

15

32

23

35

30

69

12

24

55

36

74

10

4b

19

40

52
56

22

84

18

28

83

48

21

97

70

89

64

11

ROAD

BR
EN

T

10
5

106

116

BR
EN

T F
IEL

D

IVY CLOSE

MILDRED CLOSE

FINCHLEY CLOSE

HOWARD ROAD

EL
HA

M 
CR

ES
CE

NT

BRENT WAY

BARHAM ROAD

Gantry

FAIRFAX COURT

Ward Bdy

and Path

2
30

1 11

42

115

2

14

105

29

2

28

14

14

32

23

19

29

29

21

1

13

43

14

2

12

1

13

15

27

14

23

1

30
11

@ A4°1:1,250

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

 Te
mp

lat
es

\P
I_M

ap
pin

g_
A4

_L
an

d_
da

te.
mx

d
Ma

p P
rod

uc
ed

 B
y: 

se
as

tw
oo

d O
n: 

03
/11

/20
20

 11
:57

 A
M

Rear of 39 Brentfield Road
Appendix A

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2020
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2020

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 118



@ A4°1:10,000

H:
\M

ap
s &

 P
lan

s\M
ap

s b
efo

re
 P

DF
'in

g\W
es

ter
n_

Cr
os

s_
Ph

as
e_

1.m
xd

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
03

/11
/20

20
 11

:47
 A

M

Western Cross Phase 1
Appendix B

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2020
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2020

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 120


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on 10 December 2020
	Minutes

	7 Draft Rent Arrears Policy
	APPENDIX A - Draft Rent Arrears Policy
	APPENDIX B - Customer Access Review - Draft Rent Arrears Policy

	8 National Non-Domestic Rate Relief 2021-22
	Revised Appendix A - Discretionary Rate Relief
	Appendix B - Discretionary Rate Relief
	Appendix C - Discretionary Rate Relief

	9 Planning Services Sub-Delegations
	Appendix A Latest draft Planning Services Sub Delegations
	Appendix B Summary of Neighbourhood Plan Stages

	10 Draft Calendar of Meetings 2021/22 and 2022/23
	Appendix A Draft Calendar of meetings for 2021-22
	Appendix B Draft Calendar of meetings for 2022-23 v1

	11 Delegated Items under Standing Order 38: Street Naming and Numbering
	Appendix A Street Naming and Numbering Delegated decision
	Appendix_A_Consult_Plan_Brentfield_Road
	Appendix_B_Western_Cross_Consult_Plan


